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China Food Company is a well-established 
and profitable food manufacturing business 
based in Shandong province, a region with a 
population of circa 94 million. Capitalising on 
the significant growth in the Chinese domestic 
market, the Group manufactures numerous 
different product lines including soya sauce, 
vinegar and bean paste, which are sold 
through a network of distributors and outlets of 
supermarket chains in the north-eastern region 
of China, such as Tesco, Walmart, Carrefour 
and Jialejia.

The first phase of expansion is now complete 
at the Group’s new factory, which was officially 
opened on 12 May 2010 and doubles China 
Food’s current capacity.  It is proposed that in due 
course there will be a further two phases, adding 
capacity of 100,000 tonnes through the building of 
230 additional silos.   

China Food is well positioned to benefit from 
China’s demographic growth and increased 
urbanisation. The Group’s operations are highly 
scalable and able to support further growth, and 
the Board believes that the prospects for China 
Food are strong.  

The Chinese sauces, 
dressings and condiments 
market is expected 
to be worth CNY 115 
billion (US$15 billion) by 
2013, driven by Chinese 
population growth and 
economic prosperity
Datamonitor report: Sauces, Dressings and 
Condiments in China to 2013, April 2010

Strong start to 2011: condiment sales up 20.4% in Q1 vs 2010
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6 million tonnes of Soy Sauce 
were produced in China 

this year, with 10% 
in Shandong

Shandong is the third largest province 
in China in terms of GDP contribution 
at £370 billion and has a GDP per capita 
of RMB3,750 
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Income in higher-income households 
has risen by 255% versus 50% for 
lower-income households since 2004

2010 China Food Highlights

• Revenue grew by 19.1% 
to £35.9 million

• Profit before tax 
increased by 33.1% to 
£3.8 million

• New factory fully 
operational 

• 89 of the 131 existing 
fermentation silos filled 

• Installed and 
commissioned four 
packing lines with a total 
combined capacity of 
210,000 litres / day

• Continued benefit from 
the robust growth within 
the Chinese domestic 
market

• GDP growth of over 8% 
forecasted for 2011 in 
China

China Food Soya Sauce Brands
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China’s economy grew by 9.8% in 2010.  The United States, 
which posted one of its best recoveries after the fi nancial 
crisis, grew by 3.1% and United Kingdom posted a negative 
0.6%.  China has now over taken Japan as the second largest 
economy in the world and has set a target to grow by over 8% 
in 2011. PricewaterhouseCoopers expects China to overtake 
the United States as the largest economy by 2020.

In March 2010, China’s premiere, Mr. Wen Jiabao, projected 
China to grow by over 8% for 2011 with a long-term view of 
7% in the following four years as its 12th fi ve-year plan.  The 
key reason for the slower growth target is to curb infl ation and 
maintain this at below 4% as the income disparity in China 
widens.  Importantly, much of China’s growth is expected to 
be driven by domestic consumption and the continued rise in 
urbanisation to an anticipated 51.5% (from 47.5% currently).

China Food’s local market, Shandong province in China, 
continues to grow and accounted for 95% of our turnover last 
year.  Shandong is the third largest province in China in terms 
of GDP contribution at £370 billion (one-fi fth of the UK) and has 
a GDP per capita of RMB3,750 (one-sixth of the UK).  It has 
grown at a compounded annual growth rate of 20% for the last 
fi ve years.

The Directors believe that China is, without doubt, the economy 
of the future and I am pleased to say that China Food is 
extremely well positioned to capitalise on this growth.

Against this background, I am pleased to report that China 
Food’s revenue grew by 19.1% to £35.9 million (2009: £30.1 
million), and profi t before tax grew by 33.1% to £3.8 million 
(2009: £2.8 million).

Condiments business

The condiments business grew by 16.8% in revenue and 
20.7% in profi t before taxation, fi nance and unallocated group 
expenses to reach £14.7 million and £4.2 million respectively. 
The Group’s strategy is to develop a strong Northern China 
brand for condiments.  With the opening of our new condiment 
factory, the emphasis has shifted from being focused on 
production to a consumer-focused strategy.  The Group intends 
to strengthen its marketing team and invest in developing 
new markets and brand building.  With the Group’s dominant 
position in Shandong, the Board does not see the need to 
invest heavily in local marketing.  China Food’s existing brand, 
“Hao Tai Tai” is perceived as a provincial mid-priced brand 
and it will take time and effort to alter these perceptions as the 
Group looks to develop into a broader Northern China brand.

To this end, the Board has set two objectives for 2011:
• To launch a new range of top-premium grade products 

called “Xaka” (pronounced as ‘Xianka’), comprising light 
soy sauce, dark soy sauce and Japanese shoyu in the 
regional northern provinces; and,

• To expand and strengthen the footprint of “Hao Tai Tai” in 
Shandong.

China Food expects to roll-out “Xaka” in the summer of this 
year.

As the condiment business matures, the Board will explore 
earnings enhancing acquisition opportunities to expand China 
Food’s footprint outside China; particularly in Europe and South 
East Asia.  The Board is looking for opportunities where the 
Group can acquire existing international brands to capitalise 
on its distribution platform into China.  The Board has been 
approached with such opportunities and will continue to 
consider such opportunities in the future.

Feed business

The feed business grew by 20.7% in revenue and 59.6% 
in profi t before taxation, fi nance and unallocated group 
expenses to reach £21.2 million and £1.5 million respectively 
as China’s livestock industry recovers from the previous year.  
Its profi t contribution accounted for 26.1% of the Group’s total 
segmental profi t, up from 21.0% in 2009.  This is expected 
to fall in proportion with the Group’s condiments business 
increasing as a direct result of China Food’s new condiment 
factory.

Gross margins in feed are expected to remain at below 
10%.  Concerns about food infl ation in China and worldwide 
commodity scarcity are expected to again pose diffi culties for 
the growth of the business.  Despite its profi t and cashfl ow 
contribution, the business’s sensitivity to external factors makes 
it diffi cult to plan for the future unless the Feed business has 
scale to infl uence the industry.  Accordingly, the Board intends 
to review the direction the Group’s feed business, including but 
not limited to spinning off the business or a potential merger.

Capital Restructuring

China Food has started the capital restructuring exercise as 
announced in September 2010.  This will recapitalise the 
parent holding company’s losses and enable the UK Plc to 
issue dividends in the future.  As part of the exercise, the Board 
will be seeking shareholders’ approval to adopt the necessary 
resolutions at our General Meeting later in May.  As highlighted 
in last year’s interim statement, the Board will consider a 
maiden dividend later in the year, following the six months to 
30 June 2011.

Chairman’s Statement
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Strengthening our team

China Food is actively looking at new candidates to join its 
Board in order to increase its effectiveness, and as a result has 
recently met a number of candidates who were all from large 
established international food related corporations where they 
held senior positions.  Following this recruitment process, the 
Board is happy to announce that Thomas Coley, has agreed 
to join our Board as Non-Executive Director.  Thomas was on 
the executive committee of Nestlé S.A.  Thomas has extensive 
experience in Asia, in sales and marketing as well as domain 
knowledge of the food industry, branding and understanding 
the consumer.  The Board hopes that with his valuable feedback 
and advice, China Food can be developed into an international 
company.

Derek Marsh, our Non-Executive Director since 2007, has 
indicated that he will not be standing for re-election at the 
coming Annual General Meeting.  The Board joins me in 
thanking Derek for his valuable contributions to the Group over 
the last three and a half years and wish him the very best for 
the future.

As the Group develops, it will be seeking a further Non-
Executive Director who will bring additional skills and Asia 
experience to the Board. 

The Group is also expanding its senior management and ground 
staff as it expands its existing sales channels and establishes 
new ones.  As at 31 March 2011, China Food employed over 
780 staff.  In order to further the Group’s development, China 
Food has made a number of key management hires.  The 
Group has strengthened the resourcing area of the business 
by hiring a deputy General Manager, Ms. Lin Hua, to improve 
the effi ciency of the operations.  Ms. Lin has over 30 years 
experience in corporate management and was a recipient of 
the female entrepreneur of the year and Outstanding Woman 
awards in Weifang city, Shandong province.  Given the Group’s 
shift in focus to marketing its products, China Food has also 
hired a Marketing Director, Mr. Mu, to design and execute a 
targeted marketing plan.  Mr. Mu is highly experienced in the 
sales and marketing sector and was previously the sales and 
marketing director for one of the largest fast moving food 
companies in China.

China Food has also established a China Executive Team 
which meets monthly to review operational matters and the 
execution of the Group’s strategy.  Its members include the 
executive members of the Board but also the local senior 
management; the Group’s local General Manager Mr. Lin, 
deputy General Manager, Ms. Lin and Ms Zhang (the Group’s 
fi nancial controller).  The Board has also invited Mr. Fu Guoping 

(the Group’s founder and major shareholder) to join us on this 
executive team.  His experience and valuable insights will 
provide added perspective as the Group expands into new 
products and new markets.

Corporate Social Responsibility

As China Food increasingly moves towards operating under 
leading international standards, the Group has started 
promoting social responsibility as a company.  Given the Group’s 
operations, its responsibility for the health of its consumers 
is paramount.  The Board believes that being socially aware 
forms an essential foundation for the Group’s growth, its culture 
and consequently, the way it does business. To this end, China 
Food donated £25,000 in 2010 and also organised a fund 
raising mountain trek up Mount Taisan (China’s most famous 
mountain) with the international charity, Voluntary Services 
Overseas.

Vision

There are many steps China Food will still have to take to in 
order to become recognised as a strong North China brand.  
The Group is a top fi ve brand in Shandong province, the 
challenge will be to replicate this in each of the major cities and 
provinces in North China.  That is when China Food can claim 
to be a North China brand.

After several years of building up the fundamental infrastructure 
for the business, China Food has one of the largest and most 
technologically advanced and largest condiments plants in 
China.  In the months ahead, the Group now has to focus on 
the other elements of the market, the consumer and branding, 
to enable China Food to achieve its goals.

Lastly, I would like to thank the shareholders, advisers, 
supporters, in particular, Weifang Vice-Mayor, Mr. Hu Yanxin, 
Director of Trade & Investment at the British Embassy, Beijing, 
Alastair Morgan, and Chairman of the China British Business 
Council, Sir David Brewer, who have supported China Food 
at events such as its factory opening and commissioning of its 
initial production.  Once again, I would like to extend the Board’s 
gratitude to Mr. Derek Marsh for his valuable contributions, 
patience and belief in China Food.  The Board looks forward to 
everyone’s support in the coming year as we move from being 
production-driven to consumption-led.

John Mclean
Non-Executive Chairman
11 April 2011
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The fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010 saw the Group 
complete its new factory and commence production.  China 
Food had the pleasure of Alastair Morgan, Director  of Trade 
& Investment at the British Embassy, Beijing, to launch the 
Group’s factory in May 2010 and Sir David Brewer, Chairman of 
the China British Business Council to commemorate the start 
of production in September 2010.

Business performance

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2010 
was £35.9 million (2009: £30.1 million), representing an 
increase of 19.1%.  During the period the average GBP:RMB 
exchange rate for 2010 was 10.4602 (2009: 10.7382).  

Revenues in the Group’s condiments business grew 16.8% to 
reach £14.7 million (2009: £12.6 million).  Of this, soya sauce 
grew the most signifi cantly at 27.2% as the Group focused on 
building soya sauce market share in preparation for the roll-out 
of our new soya sauce factory.

During the year, China Food also launched new packaging 
and new higher-grade products during the year to boost sales 
and to upgrade its “Hao Tai Tai” brand.  In 2011 the Group will 
launch the “Xaka” brand of top to premium grade soya sauces 
to complement its existing 60 varieties of cooking and dipping 
sauces.  

China Food also participated in the Food & Alcohol Fair in Jinan 
City, the capital city of Shandong province in October 2010.  
Signifi cant interest was received in the Group’s “Xaka” initiative.  
China Food met a total of 273 potential distributors during the 
Fair, of which 75 have already signed MOUs with the Company. 

The feed business also improved in 2010, growing by 20.7%.  
The revenue growth in the second half of 2010 slowed because 
the product mix changed as the Group focused on increasing 
premix feed sales which generated a higher margin. 

While the Board can manage the feed business by controlling 
the inventory and procurement process, it has limited infl uence 
over the Group’s customers who are highly susceptible to 
external issues such as price increases, livestock disease and 
food safety.  Nevertheless, the feed business continues to be 
good source of profi ts and cash fl ow for the Group.

Operating profi t for the Group, before fi nance costs and 
taxation, improved signifi cantly to £4.0 million compared to 
£3.1 million in 2009 even after expensing £600,000 of set-up 
costs for Shandong Fuss Biotech Co. Ltd (“Fuss Biotech”), 
the separate subsidiary set up for the new manufacturing 
facilities of which £200,000 relates to non-cash amortisation 
and depreciation costs.  No additional revenues from the new 
facilities were recognised in 2010 with sales of new product 
commencing in early 2011.  

The Board remains conscious of the minimum wage increases 
and possible commodity infl ation in the later part of 2010, 
and continues to work to mitigate any impact on the Group’s 
performance.  

Production and Silos

The new factory started production in July 2010 and as at 4 
April 2011, the Group is ahead of plan and has fi lled 89 silos out 
of its 131 existing fermentation silos under Phase 1.  The Group 
is fi lling one silo every two days.  The Company intends to ramp 
up production in the months ahead.  The average fermentation 
period of each silo ranges from 90 to 120 days and the Group 
has been able to achieve its targeted amino-acid yields of 
0.85g/100ml, one of the key indicators of soya sauce quality in 
China.  The Group has already opened 16 silos and produced 
approximately 1,368,000 litres of soya sauce from the new 
factory.  China Food has also installed and commissioned four 
packing lines with a total combined capacity of 70,000 litres 
per shift, with a maximum of 210,000 litres bottled per day.

The entire production process is now proven and operational.  
The Board expects to achieve a target of 23,500 tonnes of top to 
premium grade soya sauce for this fi nancial year, representing a 
68.3% increase in soya sauce production against China Food’s 
production for 2010 and a 36.4% increase in cooking and 
dipping sauce production (including vinegar and bean paste) 
for the same period.

Sales and Marketing

The key focus for 2011 is to increase China Food’s sales and 
marketing efforts to push the Group’s increased production 
capability, and the recruitment of key Board and management 
team members with experience in this fi eld underpins this 
focus.   

To coordinate the Group’s expansion, China Food has set up a 
Beijing offi ce as the headquarters for the executive of the North 
China marketing strategy.  The Group will also be revising its 
corporate branding strategy and refreshing its product website.
China Food expects to sell a signifi cant part of its new 
production for this year within Shandong province.  The Group 
also intends to review its expansion plan for Phase 2 and 3 to 
increase by another 100,000 tonnes, or an additional 230 silos, 
in the summer of 2012.

Cash fl ow

The Group issued £1.0 million in Redeemable Cumulative 
Convertible Preference Notes (“C Notes”) in June 2010 to raise 
additional funds to complete its factory.  These were subscribed 
predominantly by existing shareholders.  These C Notes carry 
an annual coupon of 8% and a conversion price of 50 pence.

In June 2010 China Food secured a term loan of RMB30 million 
(circa £3.0 million) from the Bank of East Asia, one of the largest 
Asian banks based in Hong Kong. 

Chief Executive Offi cer’s Report
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Scaled production at the new facility will increase the need 
for working capital in the short term and subsequent to the 
year end the Group secured an additional RMB30 million (circa 
£3.0 million) from the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China 
Limited to support the expansion requirements.  

The Company generated £1.8 million (2009: £1.4 million) from 
operating activities in 2010 although some £4.4 million (2009: 
£4.3 million) was invested in new plant and equipment.  At 
the year end the Company held cash balances of £2.9 million 
(2009: £3.2 million) and had total borrowings of £12.2 million 
(2009: £9.0 million).  

Building the team

To date, China Food has hired an additional 200 people, 
including 136 production staff for our new subsidiary, Fuss 
Biotech.  As the Group had not started selling soya sauce from 
its new factory, China Food has had only expenses without the 
benefi t of any revenue.  Once the Group starts selling products 
from Fuss Biotech, it will immediately have a positive impact 
on its performance.  Furthermore, as the factory increases its 
production, China Food will be able to benefi t from economies 
of scale.

Improving quality

In May 2010, China Food obtained its ISO22000 certifi cation 
with an international fi rm, SGS International Certifi cation 
Services Singapore Pte Ltd (part of the SGS International 
Group), for the Group’s existing condiments factory.  The Group 
has also achieved its “QS” mark for Fuss Biotech in December 
2010.  The “QS” mark is China’s product certifi cation which 
certifi es the Group’s manufacturing process and product 
registration.

China Food has now started the ISO22000 process for its new 
condiments factory under Fuss Biotech and hopes to achieve 
this certifi cation by fi rst half of this year.

Outlook

The Board expects the condiments business to continue its 
signifi cant growth, and current trading is encouraging.  Whilst 
the market remains very fragmented we do expect to see 
greater levels of competition, especially in the low-medium 
grade products, as additional production facilities of the 
Group’s competitors come on stream.  However, with the 
growing affl uence of the Chinese population, the increasing 
food safety concerns, the enhanced branding and the new 
multi-tiered product offer, incorporating the top-premium grade 
soya sauce, China Food expects to continue its growth whilst 
improving its market share.  Condiment sales for the fi rst three 
months of this year have been promising with average growth 
of 20.4% over 2010 even without the benefi t of the Group’s new 
planned marketing activities.   In preparation for our product 
launch later in the year, we will be incurring additional sales and 
marketing expenses, as well as our production costs in the fi rst 
half of this year.   As such, we expect lower profi tability in H1 
2011 compared to 2010 but a strong second half to the year.

The feed business is susceptible to a number of external factors 
which could affect performance.  However, this is tempered by 
the product resilience, which as demonstrated by recent events, 
such as the drought in Shandong (until the end of February 
2011) and the regional meat contamination issues have not 
affected the feed business or the Group signifi cantly.  However, 
this may not always be the case if commodity and food prices 
rise, and the increase in costs is unable to be passed onto the 
end consumer. To date we have been moderately successful.

Overall, the Board anticipates that 2011 will prove to be a 
defi ning year for China Food as the condiments business 
continues to drive the Company’s profi tability.  It will be a year of 
market expansion, and of building up talent and management 
to drive growth of the Group as a whole.  The Board expects a 
year of further signifi cant progress as the Group moves closer 
to becoming a North China condiment brand.

Raphael Tham
Chief Executive Offi cer
11 April  2011
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Income Statement Review

Revenue

The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 December 2010 was £35.9 million (2009: £30.1 million), representing an increase of 
19.1%. In local currency terms, there was an increase of 16.0%. The average GBP:RMB exchange rate for 2010 was 10.4602 
(2009: 10.7382). 

Turnover (in RMB’000)

H1 2010 H2 2010 FY2010 % to Group  
      Total

H1 2009 H2 2009 FY2009 % to Group  
      TotalRMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Turnover
Condiments 74,706 78,817 153,523 40.9% 62,572 72,355 134,927 41.7%
Animal feed 103,229 118,680 221,909 59.1% 81,858 106,822 188,680 58.3%
Group total 177,935 197,497 375,432 100.0% 144,430 179,177 323,607 100.0%

Turnover of the condiments business for 2010 was £14.7 million (2009: £12.6 million), representing an increase of 16.8%. In local 
currency terms, there was an increase of 13.8% with H1 up 19.4% and H2 up 8.9% year-on-year.

Turnover of the feed business for 2010 was £21.2 million (2009: £17.5 million), representing an increase of 20.7%. In local currency 
terms, there was an increase of 17.6% with H1 up 26.1% and H2 up 11.1% year-on-year.

Profi tability analysis

The Group’s gross profi t for 2010 was £7.8 million (2009: £6.4 million), representing a gross profi t margin of 21.8% (2008: 21.1%).

The condiments gross profi t margin improved from 39.7% in 2009 to 40.2% in 2010. The improvement in gross profi t margin 
is mainly due to better cost control. Overall sales volumes increased by 15.7% with soya sauce increasing most signifi cantly by 
27.2%.    

The feed gross profi t margin improved from 7.8% in 2009 to 9.1% in 2010. This is mainly due to an increase in sales of higher-
margin premix feed. Sales volumes of premix increased by 20.3% from 14,400 tonnes to 17,300 tonnes while sales of compound 
feed remained high at 55,000 tonnes (2009: 54,000 tonnes). 

Segment profi t after tax and before unallocated group overheads (in RMB’000)

H1 2010 H2 2010 FY2010 % to Group  
      Total

H1 2009 H2 2009 FY2009 % to Group  
      TotalRMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Segment profi t
Condiments 17,535 15,512 33,047 74.0% 13,329 14,769 28,098 79.0%
Animal feed 5,294 6,319 11,613 26.0% 3,391 4,080 7,471 21.0%
Group total 22,829 21,831 44,660 100.0% 16,720 18,849 35,569 100.0%

Profi t after tax from the condiments business was £3.2 million (2009: £2.6 million), representing an increase of 20.7%. In local 
currency terms, there was an increase of 17.6% with H1 up 31.6% and H2 up 5.0% year-on-year.

Profi t after tax from the feed business was £1.1 million (2009: £696,000), representing an increase of 59.5%. In local currency 
terms, there was an increase of 55.4% with H1 up 56.1% and H2 up 54.9% year-on-year.

Selling and marketing costs were up by 4.2%, partly due to the depreciation of the GBP:RMB exchange rate. In local currency 
terms, there was an increase of 1.5%. The Group increased its marketing efforts to extend its presence, resulting in increased 
staff costs to maintain competiveness among the key players in the market. Meanwhile, the Group focused on minimising other 
marketing expenses to restrict the overall increase in marketing spend to 1.5%. 

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Administrative costs increased by 32.8% from £1.8 million to £2.4 million. In preparation for its opening, administrative costs at 
the new soya sauce factory increased signifi cantly by 63.5% from £387,000 to £633,000. Staff costs also increased due mainly to 
salary increment of 7-25% and more employees joining the pension contributions scheme. 

Interest expenses increased from £434,000 to £726,000, up 67.3%, due mainly to the convertible loan notes of £3.0 million and 
£1.1 million issued in November 2009 and June 2010 respectively.

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) of the Group was £4.5 million (2009: £3.7 million), up 
23.6%. The reconciliation of EBITDA to income statement is as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Profi t before tax                    3,753                    2,820 
Less:

Finance income                     (515)                     (123)
Add:

Finance costs                       726                       434 
Depreciation                       368                       342 
Amortisation                       187                       182 

EBITDA                    4,519                    3,655 

The Group’s net profi t was £2.3 million (2009: £1.7 million), representing a group net profi t margin of 6.5% (2009: 5.7%).

Review of Financial Position 

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s net assets stood at £34.5 million (31 December 2009: £30.1 million). The increase in net assets 
was partly due to the depreciation of the GBP:RMB exchange rate at 31 December 2010. The GBP:RMB exchange rate at the year 
end was 10.2877 (31 December 2009: 11.0394).

Inventories were £3.0 million at 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009: £1.3 million). 

The trade and other receivables balance was £750,000 (31 December 2009: £420,000), representing a 78.6% increase as 
compared to 31 December 2009. There were no outstanding trade debtors overdue at the year end. 

The Group issued convertible loan notes C of £1.1 million during the year. Net proceeds from the convertible loan notes amounted 
to £1.0 million.

The Group secured new bank borrowings of £3.4 million and repaid a bank loan of £1.8 million during the year.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had a cash balance of £2.9 million (2009: £3.2 million) and generated net cashfl ows of £1.8 
million (2009: £1.4 million) from operating activities. The decrease in the cash balance was mainly due to capital expenditure during 
the year. The Group spent £4.4 million (2009: £4.2 million) in capital investment in the new soya sauce plant in 2010. Capital 
expenditure for the year was partially fi nanced by the bank borrowings and proceeds from the convertible loan notes.

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was 0.35 (31 December 2009: 0.30). In 2010, the Group’s turnover for 
inventories, trade debtors, and trade creditors were 28 days (2009: 20 days), 5 days (2009: 4 days), and 34 days (2009: 39 days) 
respectively.
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John McLean (Non Executive Chairman)

John McLean, aged 58, is Chairman of Albany Capital, which he co-founded to invest in Chinese and other investments. He is the 
Non-executive Chairman of China Food Company plc, the 9th largest manufacturer and seller of soya sauce in China and is also 
Non-executive Chairman of Sorbic International Plc, the leading Chinese sorbate producer and distributor and a non-executive 
director of a private equity fund. In 2007 he joined the board of Humberts plc, the estate agent, and became its Executive Chairman 
to lead its rescue and ultimate disposal. Prior to this, he carried out a strategic review for Gamma Holdings NV of their UK interests, 
including Sanderson, the textile and wallpaper company, and as its UK group managing director successfully implemented the 
turnaround and disposal plan. Sanderson was a global company which was brand and design led and had operations in America, 
Asia and China. In the nineties, he was Finance Director and then General Manager of ICS, the UK logistics and overnight courier 
business and co-led a management buy-out of the company with 3i, prior to its successful disposal to Hays plc. John is a 
Chartered Accountant and was previously with Coopers & Lybrand in both London and New York.

Raphael Tham Wai Mun (Chief Executive Offi cer)

Raphael Tham Wai Mun, aged 40, is experienced in various businesses within the technology, construction, retail and fi nance 
industries and has been involved in general management, strategic development, fi nancing and corporate restructuring. Prior to 
joining the Company, Mr Tham was the senior vice president of a Hong Kong based, GEM listed company involved in securities, 
corporate fi nance advisory and other related services and was the country manager of their Singapore subsidiary. Mr Tham has also 
founded and run other businesses and served on the board of listed companies in Singapore. He is also currently a non-executive 
director of Byte Power Group Limited, an Australian listed company. Mr Tham started his career with the Economic Development 
Board of Singapore and holds a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) from the National University of Singapore. 

Feng Bo (Chief Operating Offi cer)

Feng Bo, aged 42, graduated from the Beijing Agriculture Engineering University in 1991 with a Bachelor of Science. She then 
completed her graduate course in International Trade at China Ocean University in 2003. She is also a committee member of the 
China Animal Husbandry and Veterinary Institute of Animal Nutrition. She joined Fuss Feed in 1994 and subsequently became its 
General Manager. Feng Bo is currently a director of Fuss Feed and its legal representative. 

Frank Chau Leung Yu (Chief Financial Offi cer)

Frank Chau, aged 38, has more than ten years experience in audit, corporate fi nance and fi nancial management in Singapore, 
Hong Kong and mainland China. Mr Chau was the Financial Controller of a Singapore mainboard listed company prior to joining the 
Company. Mr Chau started his career with the Hong Kong member of Grant Thornton International and holds a Master’s degree 
in Business Administration from the University of Adelaide, Australia. Mr Chau is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered 
Certifi ed Accountants. 

Derek Marsh, CVO (Non-Executive Director)

Derek Marsh, aged 64, has thirty eight years of Government experience, including with the British diplomatic service in East Asia 
where he was Deputy British Ambassador in Seoul from 1997 to 2001 and British Trade Representative in Taipei from 2002 to 
2005. His other Government experience includes the following areas: export promotion, aerospace industry, large-scale information 
business, defence procurement and military operations. Derek was a non-executive director of Bovis Homes Limited between 1992 
and 1994. Bovis Homes Limited was a subsidiary of the P&O Group plc. He is currently a non-executive director of the AIM quoted 
HaiKe Chemical Group Limited, based in the Shandong Province. Derek graduated from the Royal College of Defence Studies, 
London and the NATO Defence College, Rome and holds an MA from The Queen’s College, Oxford.

Thomas Coley (Non-Executive Director)

Thomas Coley, aged 66, was appointed a Non-Executive Director of China Food Company plc on 11 April 2011. Thomas Coley 
joined China Food following a long and successful international career with Nestlé S.A in 12 different countries building brands 
and businesses across many of the Nestlé’s diverse product portfolio in various management roles. Tom has extensive experience 
in Asia, in general management, sales and marketing as well as broad knowledge of the food industry.  From 2002 until 2010, 
Thomas Coley held the position of Senior Vice-President leading Nestlé’s Dairy Strategic Business unit based in Vevey, Switzerland.  
Prior to this, he was Chairman and CEO of Nestlé Thai Ltd for seven years, responsible for the Indochina region. This role, based 
in Bangkok, involved the management of 12 factories, approximately 3,500 personnel and a broad foodstuffs portfolio operating 
in 22 product categories.  Thomas Coley’s former Board level experience includes seven years as lead director at Dairy Partners 
of America (a joint venture between Nestlé S.A and Fonterra Co-operative Group Limited) and three years on the board of the 
International Dairy Federation based in Brussels.

Board of Directors
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Directors’ Report
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Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited fi nancial statements of China Food 
Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Principal activities

The Group mainly engaged in the manufacture and distribution of cooking and dipping sauces and animal feed products 
through its subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (as set out in note 3.3(c)). 

The results of the Group are set out in detail on pages 27 to 34.

Business review

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The Directors have identifi ed revenue, gross and net profi t margins, working capital, and sales mix as the principal KPIs of the 
Group. 

Working Capital Management

Working capital is managed through closely monitoring inventories, debtors’ and creditors’ turnover. In 2010, these were 28 
(2009: 20), 5 (2009: 4), and 34 (2009: 39) days respectively. There were no outstanding trade debtors overdue at the year 
end. There was an increase in inventory turnover as the fermentation period for the new soya sauce products is between 3-6 
months which is substantially longer than the original products for which the process took approximately one month. The 
creditor payment policy is stated below.

Sales Mix

The Group reviews demand frequently and adjusts its sales mix according to the requirements of the market. 

Overall sales volumes of condiment products increased by 15.7%. Sales volumes of soya sauce and vinegar increased by 
27.2% and 10.5% respectively while bean paste decreased by 4.8% year-on-year.  

Overall sales volumes of feed products increased by 5.3%. Sales volumes for premix, concentrate, and compound feed 
amounted to 23.6% (2009: 20.7%), 1.0% (2009: 1.7%), and 75.4% (2009: 77.6%) of the overall sales respectively. 
  
A review of revenues and margins is presented in the Management Discussion and Analysis section. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2010 – 5  –  CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Directors’ Report

Financial review

Summary Financial Results

Year ended Year ended Percentage
31 December 2010 31 December 2009 Change

£'000 £'000

Revenue   35,891 30,136 19.1%
EBITDA 4,519 3,655 23.6%
Profi t before tax 3,753 2,820 33.1%
Profi t after tax 2,319 1,708 35.8%
Cash and cash equivalents 2,918 3,248 -10.2%
Net assets   34,489 30,054 14.8%
Basic earnings per share (pence)   3.49 2.57 35.8%

A review of the Group’s performance and fi nancial position is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section.

Risks affecting the group

General economic climate

The general economic climate is volatile and is affected by numerous factors which are beyond the Group’s control and 
which may affect its operations, business and profi tability. These factors include the supply and demand of capital, growth in 
gross domestic product, employment trends and industrial disruption, international economic trends, currency exchange rate 
fl uctuations, the level of interest rates and the rate of infl ation, global or regional political events and international events, as 
well as a range of other market forces, all of which have an impact on demand and business costs. The Board monitor the 
situation and take actions as required.
 
Fluctuations in the price of raw materials

A signifi cant percentage of the raw materials used in the production of the Group’s products are commodity-based. The prices 
of raw materials such as corn, wheat and soya bean used in the production of animal feed and condiments may fl uctuate due 
to changes in supply and demand conditions. Any shortage in the supply or upsurge in demand may lead to an increase in 
prices, which may adversely affect the Group’s profi tability. While the Group will seek to mitigate the impact by passing on all 
or at least part of future cost increases to its customers this may not always be possible.

Brand recognition in new markets 

Currently, the Group’s condiments products are mainly medium-to-lower end and distribution of these is mainly through 
distributors in Shandong and nearby provinces. The products from its new factory will be medium-to-high end. The majority 
of these new products will be distributed into new markets through supermarket and hypermarket chains. To achieve this the 
Group’s investment in marketing spend will need to be higher. Despite its good track record, the Group cannot guarantee rapid 
penetration into these new markets where it may take time for new customers to accept and recognise its brand. The length 
of time taken to achieve success will impact the Group’s revenues and profi tability.
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Outbreaks of infectious diseases

Since the Group supplies feed for livestock and other animals, its business may be adversely affected in the event of an 
infectious disease outbreak, such as bird fl u, blue-ear pig disease, SARS or Nipah virus, as demand for feed may be signifi cantly 
reduced in the event that such livestock or animals are subject to culling or that quarantine is imposed on farms.

In addition, due to the contagious nature of infectious diseases, travel advisories may be issued and quarantines may be 
imposed by certain government authorities in infected cities or provinces. Accordingly, an outbreak can result in global or 
regional economic and social uncertainties. This may have an adverse effect on the Group’s sales and profi tability. In addition, 
in the event of an outbreak of infectious disease in any of the Group’s production facilities, its management and employees 
may be quarantined and it may be required by the relevant health authorities to suspend its operations, until further notice. 
Accordingly, this may cause disruption to the Group’s business and operations.

The Group mitigates this risk by developing products for a diverse range of animals.

Competition

The animal feed and condiments markets are both intensely competitive with a large number of both large and small 
competitors. Larger companies, in particular, may have access to greater fi nancial resources and technical facilities than the 
Group, which may give them a competitive advantage. The Board and management regularly meet to discuss and agree the 
Group’s strategy in the face of such competition.

Food safety

While the Group is ISO certifi ed and HACCP approved, it may still be at risk to manufacturing errors, sub-standard raw 
materials from its suppliers or foul play which could affect the safety of the Group’s products.  This could result in fi nes, the loss 
of business licenses and the loss of customer confi dence.  The Group has continued to take measures to improve food safety 
and had no safety issues reported in 2010 against a back-drop of increased government inspections and controls.

Cashfl ow

While the Group has generated strong cashfl ows from its operating activities, the majority of the funds have been reinvested in 
the new Shou Guang facility.  The Group may need to make signifi cant investment in marketing the new soya sauce products 
in new markets and is in discussion with banks to secure additional bank facilities. In the event the Group has to draw further 
on internal funds and other sources, this may absorb a signifi cant proportion of the Group’s free cashfl ow. 

As most distributors are required to pay in advance, there are no overdue outstanding debts. However, the Group’s new range 
of premium grade soya sauce products will be more dependent on sales through hypermarkets and supermarkets.  More 
working capital may be locked in providing credit terms to these customers who typically demand 30-60 day terms. This may 
increase the Group’s working capital requirement. 

Dependence on key executives and personnel

The future performance of the Group will depend on its ability to retain the services and personal connections or contacts 
of key executives and to recruit, motivate and retain other suitably skilled personnel. The Group aims to mitigate this risk by 
developing its staff in-house, giving them clear objectives and career paths.

Financial risk management

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing fi nancial risks. The fi nancial risk management objectives and policies of 
the Group are set out in note 27 to the fi nancial statements.

Directors’ Report
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Share capital

There were no new shares issued during the year. The total number of shares in issue, both at the year end and at 11 April 
2011, was 66,399,991. 

Dividends

The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010.

Directors

The following directors served the company during the year:

John McLean (Non-executive Chairman)
Raphael Tham Wai Mun  (Chief Executive Offi cer)
Feng Bo (Chief Operating Offi cer)
Frank Chau Leung Yu (Chief Financial Offi cer)
Derek Marsh (Non-executive Director)

Thomas Coley was appointed as the non-executive director of the company on 11 April 2011.

None of the directors has had a material interest in any contract or arrangement of signifi cance to which the company or any 
of its subsidiaries was a party during the year except for those disclosed in note 25.

Employees

The Board recognises that the Group’s employees are its most important asset. Employees are encouraged to train and 
develop their careers.

The Board maintains good working relations with employees by the use of clear channels of communication. The responsibility 
for communication with the workforce rests with the managers through formal and informal meetings. 

The Group is committed to achieving equal opportunities and to complying with anti-discrimination legislation.

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the best practicable 
means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste products. The Group is 
committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. The 
payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At the balance 
sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average trade creditors to total 
cost of sales. 

Directors’ Report
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offi ces of Stephenson Harwood, 1 Finsbury 
Circus London EC2M 7SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notifi ed that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary 
share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of 

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of the report were 
£2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests exceeded 10% of the Notes A, 
Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of 

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Substantial holding for Notes B

Notes B holder Notes B held (£’000)
Percentage of 

Notes B issued

Main World Investments Limited 1,000 100%

Substantial holding for Notes C

Notes C holder Notes C held (£’000)
Percentage of 

Notes C issued

VicTory VCT Plc 624 45.22%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 376 27.25%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 250 18.12%

Directors’ Report
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  
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Donations

The Group made charitable donations of £25,000 (2009: Nil) during the year.

Going Concern
 
The directors have reviewed forecasts and budgets for the coming year, which have been drawn up with appropriate regard for 
the current macroeconomic environment and the particular circumstances in which the Group operates. These were prepared 
with reference to historic and current industry knowledge, taking future strategy of the Group into account. New funds were 
raised in the year through a further convertible loan notes (net proceeds £1.0 million) issue and new bank loans (proceeds £3.4 
million), which enabled the Group to complete and start operations at the new production facility at Shou Guang.  The existing 
operations have been generating funds to meet the Group’s short-term cash requirements. At 31 December 2010 the Group 
cash balance was £2.9 million.  The new facility was offi cially opened in May 2010. Scaled production will start in April 2011. 
As average fermentation period is between three to six months for the new production facility, working capital of approximately 
£25,000 per silo will be locked up during the fermentation process. In anticipation of the working capital lock-up and the need 
to invest in marketing spend to secure penetration in new markets by the Group’s new products, the Group has secured a new 
bank loan of RMB30 million or £2.9 million from the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited to meet its expansion 
requirements. As a result of these considerations, at the time of approving the fi nancial statements, the directors consider 
that the Company and the Group have suffi cient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and 
accordingly, that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the fi nancial statements. 

As with all business forecasts, the directors’ statement cannot guarantee that the going concern basis will remain appropriate 
given the inherent uncertainty about future events.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the fi nancial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare fi nancial statements for each fi nancial year which give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the parent company and the group as at the end of the fi nancial year and of the profi t or loss of the group 
for the fi nancial year. Under that law the directors are required to prepare the group fi nancial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs). The directors have elected to prepare 
the parent company fi nancial statements in accordance with IFRSs. In preparing these fi nancial statements, the directors are 
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• for the group and parent company fi nancial statements, state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed and explained in the fi nancial statements;
• prepare the fi nancial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 

continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the fi nancial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the fi nancial statements comply with the Companies Act 
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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In so far as the directors are aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are unaware; and
• the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and fi nancial information included on the 
company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of fi nancial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP, have expressed willingness to continue in offi ce. 

In accordance with section 489(4) of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP will be 
proposed at the Annual General Meeting. 

By order of the board

John McLean
Chairman
11 April 2011

Directors’ Report



ANNUAL REPORT 2010 – 5  –  CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Directors’ Report

1

ANNUAL REPORT 2011ANNUAL REPORT 2010

19

A Remuneration Committee currently comprising of one independent Non-executive Director, one Non-executive Director and 
one Executive Director has been established to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for 
all remuneration of the Directors and senior management. 

As China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) is an AIM listed company it is not required to present a Directors’ Remuneration 
report. The Board has chosen to do so as a voluntary disclosure. The information presented meets the requirements of the 
changes to the AIM Rule 19, effective February 2010.

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to review the remuneration policy for the Directors and other senior management 
and to determine the level of remuneration package in order to attract, motivate and retain talent. The Remuneration Committee 
will consult with the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Offi cer in respect of their recommendations in determining 
the remuneration of the Directors and senior management. 

It is the Group’s policy that all Executive Directors’ service contracts contain a six-month notice period. 

Non-executive Directors are compensated with the aim to fairly represent their efforts and time dedicated to the Board 
and various committee meetings. The Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment stating their annual fee. Their 
appointment may be terminated by giving six-month written notice.

The remuneration of all the Directors during the fi nancial year, excluding Directors’ interests in share options of the Company 
is set out below.

Fees Salary
Pension

contributions
Other

emoluments Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

John McLean   22   -   2   48   72 
Raphael Tham Wai Mun   5   171   5   39   220 
Feng Bo   5   135   5   -   145 
Frank Chau Leung Yu   5   114   5   -   124 
Derek Marsh   10   -   1   25   36 

  47   420   18   112   597 
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Share Options

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2007 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and granted 4,648,000 options to the 
Directors and employees on 10 June 2009. No further options have been granted in 2010.

Details of the grant of share options to the Directors and a summary of the movements of the outstanding share options during 
the fi nancial year under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Director Options granted
Outstanding as at 

31 December 2010
Date at which 

exercisable
Exercise

price Expiry date

John McLean
Lot 1   77,466   77,466 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2   77,467   77,467 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3   77,467   77,467 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

  232,400   232,400 

Raphael Tham Wai Mun
Lot 1   123,947   123,947 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2   123,947   123,947 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3   123,946   123,946 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

  371,840   371,840 

Feng Bo
Lot 1   123,947   123,947 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2   123,946   123,946 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3   123,947   123,947 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

  371,840   371,840 

Frank Chau Leung Yu
Lot 1   92,960   92,960 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2   92,960   92,960 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3   92,960   92,960 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

  278,880   278,880 

Derek Marsh
Lot 1   46,480   46,480 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2   46,480   46,480 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3   46,480   46,480 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

  139,440   139,440 
 
None of the share options has been exercised during the year.
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Directors’ Interests

The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2010 and at the date of this report are shown 
below: 

  Ordinary shares held
Director Direct Deemed

John Mclean(1)   323,655 10,144,418
Raphael Tham Wai Mun   100,000 
Feng Bo (2)   14,772,883 
Frank Chau Leung Yu   50,000 
Derek Marsh   58,478 

  452,133   24,917,301 

(1) John McLean is a director and shareholder of Albany Capital Group Limited which holds 10,144,418 ordinary shares in 
the Company. 

(2) Feng Bo has a deemed interest in Main World Investments Limited’s holdings of 14,772,883 ordinary shares. Feng Bo 
is the spouse of Fu Guoping who is the sole shareholder of Main World Investments Limited.

The Directors’ interests in the Convertible loan notes of the Company at 31 December 2010 and at the date of this report are 
shown below: 

 
Convertible loan 
notes A&B held

Convertible loan 
notes C held

Director Direct Deemed Direct Deemed
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

John Mclean(1)   50   500   -    25 
Raphael Tham Wai Mun   -    -    -    -  
Feng Bo(2)   -    1,000   -    -  
Frank Chau Leung Yu   -    -    -    -  
Derek Marsh(3)   -    25   -    -  

  50   1,525   -    25 

(1) John McLean is a director and shareholder of Albany Capital Group Limited which holds the Convertible loan notes A 
and notes C of £500,000 and £25,000 in the Company respectively. 

(2) Feng Bo has a deemed interest in Main World Investments Limited’s holdings of £1,000,000 Convertible loan notes B. 
Feng Bo is the spouse of Fu Guoping who is the sole shareholder of Main World Investments Limited.

(3) Derek Marsh has a deemed interest in Frances Marsh’s holdings of £25,000 Convertible loan notes A. Derek Marsh is 
the spouse of Frances Marsh.
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Introduction

China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) believes that high standards of corporate governance are essential 
to its growth, driving performance, and maximising long-term shareholder value. While the Company is not subject to the 
Combined Code applicable to companies listed on the Offi cial List, The Company is committed to observing high standards 
of corporate governance.

In this report, we describe the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with reference to the principles of the 
Quoted Companies Alliance’s Corporate Governance Guidelines. The main features of the Company’s corporate governance 
procedures are as follows:

The Board

The Board effectively leads the Group, provides strategic direction, sets the values and standards for corporate governance 
and oversees the business affairs of the Group. 

The Board meets regularly to review the Group’s operations and performance. Additional meetings are convened to discuss 
matters that require urgent consideration. The Board has defi ned a schedule of matters specifi cally reserved for its decision 
and delegates certain powers to the Board committees and to the executive directors, collectively and individually. 

The number of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings held in the current fi nancial year and the attendance of 
Directors at these meetings are as follows:

Attendance Board Audit Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Meetings held 4 2 3
John McLean 4/4 2/2 3/3
Derek Marsh 3/4 2/2 3/3
Raphael Tham Wai Mun 4/4 2/2 3/3
Feng Bo 3/4 N/A N/A
Frank Chau Leung Yu 3/4 N/A N/A

In addition to the Board meetings held, the Directors also visited operations in China and held discussions with Management 
on three occasions during the year ended 31 December 2010.

The Board comprises fi ve directors, including the non-executive Chairman, three executive directors, and one independent 
non-executive director. Notwithstanding that less than one-third of the Board comprises independent Directors, the Board 
is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs, independent from Management. The Board considers the size 
and composition of the Board appropriate for the scope and nature of the Group’s operations. The members of the Board 
have core competencies in various fi elds including accounting, fi nance, business management and strategic planning.  The 
composition of the Board and the skills mix are regularly reviewed.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one third of the Board is required to retire by rotation each year. 

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Offi cer are separate persons to ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority. 
The separation of roles between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Offi cer facilitates a healthy exchange of views and 
opinions between the Board and Management. 
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Committees of the Board

The Board has three established Committees for Audit, Nomination and Remuneration. 

The Audit Committee, chaired by John McLean, meets at least twice a year with the Company’s external auditors present. Its 
roles mainly include the review of the fi nancial statements, internal controls and the scope and cost of the audit, and to receive 
reports from the external auditors. The Committee has full access to, and the co-operation of Management, as well as full 
discretion to invite any Director or executive offi cer to attend its meetings. It has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge 
its functions effectively. 

The Nomination Committee, chaired by John McLean, has full power and authority to carry out a formal selection process of 
candidates and then propose new appointments to the Board. 

The Remuneration Committee, chaired by Derek Marsh, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on 
remuneration policy for directors, including the setting of directors’ salaries and incentive arrangements. The Committee is also 
responsible for recommending the granting of share options to employees. 

Relations with Shareholders

The Board considers it important to communicate a balanced and understandable assessment of the group’s performance 
and prospects to all investors.  The Board maintains frequent contact with institutional investors through regular meetings. 
The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet and communicate with 
individual shareholders. Shareholders are given ample time and opportunity at the company’s AGM to express their views 
and put forward their questions to directors or management concerning the Group. The Board welcomes the views of all 
shareholders, and other stakeholders, which in the fi rst instance should be communicated to the Chairman.  

Internal Control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, including fi nancial, operational, compliance 
control and risk management, and for reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness. The system of internal control is designed to 
manage and minimise risk, rather than eliminate it. In pursuing these objectives internal controls can only provide a reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

The Group’s system of internal control is designed to assist its business objectives, safeguard the group’s assets, ensure 
compliance with regulation and provide reliable fi nancial information. Regular management meetings review all aspects of the 
Group’s business including any inherent or identifi ed risks. Executive management review the signifi cant risks affecting the 
business and the policies and procedures by which these risks are managed. 

The Board has engaged an external party to provide internal audit services who conduct an annual independent review. The 
internal auditors’ plans are reviewed by and discussed with the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Through this process, 
risks are identifi ed and assessed according to their potential impact and likelihood of occurrence and appropriate actions are 
assigned. The internal auditors performed their annual review in October 2010. Recommendations from previous year’s review 
were found to have been appropriately addressed.

There are established procedures for budgeting and planning capital expenditure, together with the reporting systems for 
monitoring the Group’s business and performance. There is a rolling forecast in place, which is used to assess the fi nancial 
impact of the Group’s strategy, together with a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the 
Board. A monthly report to the Board details the fi nancial performance of the Group for the preceding period versus budget 
and/or forecast.
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ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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The external auditors, who are engaged to express an opinion on the Group fi nancial statements, also consider the systems 
of internal fi nancial control to the extent necessary to express that opinion.  Internal and external auditors report the results of 
their work to management, including executive members of the Board and the Audit Committee.

The Board has adopted the Share Dealing Code for the purpose of compliance with Rule 21 of the AIM Rules and takes steps 
to ensure compliance with that rule by the Group’s employees.

The Board confi rms that there is a continuing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risks faced by the Group. 
Through the procedures outlined above, the Board has considered all signifi cant aspects of internal control during the period 
under review and to date.

Corporate Governance
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Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%
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The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
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We have audited the fi nancial statements of China Food Company plc for the year ended 31 December 2010 which comprise 
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated and company 
statements of fi nancial position, the consolidated and parent company statements of cash fl ows, the consolidated and 
company statements of changes in equity and the related notes. The fi nancial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union 
and, as regards the parent company fi nancial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 
2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 17, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the fi nancial statements and for being satisfi ed that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
the fi nancial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the fi nancial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of fi nancial statements is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/
private.cfm.

Opinion on fi nancial statements

In our opinion:
• the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 

December 2010 and of the group’s profi t for the year then ended; 
• the group fi nancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European 

Union; 
• the parent company fi nancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 

European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
• the fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of China Food Company Plc
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the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 
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Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%
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the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
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Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the fi nancial year for which the fi nancial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the fi nancial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 
in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 

been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the parent company fi nancial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specifi ed by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

 

Norman Armstrong
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London
11 April 2011

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of China Food Company Plc
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best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
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the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A
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Notes
Year ended 

31 December 2010
Year ended 

31 December 2009
£'000 £'000

Revenue 4   35,891   30,136 
Cost of sales     (28,060)   (23,779)
Gross profi t   7,831   6,357 

Other operating income 5 9 7
Selling and marketing costs (1,517) (1,456)
Administrative costs   (2,359) (1,777)
Operating result 3,964 3,131

Finance costs 6 (726) (434)
Finance income 6 515 123
Profi t before tax 7 3,753 2,820
Taxation 8 (1,434) (1,112)
Profi t for the year attributable to equity holders 

of the parent   2,319 1,708

Earnings per share
- Basic (pence) 9 3.49 2.57
- Fully diluted (pence) 9 3.48 2.57

There are no discontinued operations.

Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£'000 £'000

Profi t for the year   2,319   1,708 

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2,053 (3,109)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 2,053 (3,109)

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
to equity holders of the parent 4,372 (1,401)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Notes
 As at 

31 December 2010 
 As at 

31 December 2009 
 As at 

31 December 2008 
£'000 £'000 £'000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 39,448 30,702 29,732
Land use rights lease prepayments 11 8,368 7,976 9,018 
Total non-current assets 47,816 38,678 38,750 

Current assets
Inventories 12 3,002 1,331 1,318 
Land use rights lease prepayments 11 190 177 196 
Trade and other receivables 13 750 420 520 
Cash and cash equivalents 14 2,918 3,248 4,414 
Total current assets 6,860 5,176 6,448 

Total assets 54,676 43,854 45,198 
   

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 7,583 4,418 4,929
Bank loans 16 1,166 2,246 2,485
Current portion of shareholders' loans 18 501 440 478 
Current tax payable 415 341 906 
Total current liabilities 9,665 7,445 8,798

Net current (liabilities)/assets (2,805) (2,269) (2,350)  

Total assets less current liabilities 45,011 36,409 36,400 

Non-current liabilities
Bank loan 16 2,916 - -
Convertible loan notes 17 3,858 2,744 -
Shareholder's loan 18 3,748 3,611 5,132

10,522 6,355 5,132

Net assets 34,489 30,054 31,268

EQUITY
Share capital 19 2,656 2,656 2,656 
Share premium 20 25,678 25,678 25,678 
PRC statutory reserve 3,098 2,671 2,340 
Reverse acquisition reserve (23,992) (23,992)  (23,992)
Shares to be issued reserve 148 116 50 
Convertible loan notes - equity 17 152 121 -
Foreign exchange translation reserve 8,352 6,299 9,408 
Merger reserve 2,216 2,216 2,216 
Retained profi ts 16,181 14,289 12,912

34,489 30,054 31,268

These fi nancial statements were approved by the directors on 11 April 2011, and signed on their behalf by:
 
John McLean 
Chairman 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2010
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%
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The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
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Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Notes
 As at 

31 December 2010 
 As at 

31 December 2009 
 As at 

31 December 2008 
£'000 £'000 £'000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 22 28,582 28,128 26,317

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 13 5 9 10
VAT recoverable 13 9 11
Advance to a subsidiary 25 1,601 1,546 1,713
Amount due from a subsidiary 25 156 77 22
Cash and cash equivalents 14 38 161 386
Total current assets 1,813 1,802 2,142

Total assets 30,395 29,930 28,459 
 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 425 257 101
Total current liabilities 425 257 101

Net current assets 1,388 1,545 2,041

Total assets less current liabilities 29,970 29,673 28,358

Non-current liabilities
Convertible loan notes 17 3,858 2,744 -
Shareholder's loan 18 537 518 1,713

4,395 3,262 1,713

Net assets 25,575 26,411 26,645

EQUITY
Share capital 19 2,656 2,656 2,656 
Share premium 20 6,037 6,037 6,037 
Shares to be issued reserve 148 116 50 
Merger relief reserve 18,553 18,553 18,553
Convertible loan notes - equity 17 152 121 -
Accumulated losses (1,971) (1,072) (651) 

25,575 26,411 26,645 

These fi nancial statements were approved by the directors on 11 April 2011, and signed on their behalf by:

 
John McLean 
Chairman

Company Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2010
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
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Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%
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Year ended
 31 December 2010

Year ended
 31 December 2009

 £'000  £ '000
Cash fl ows from operating activities

Profi t before tax 3,753 2,820
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 368 342
Amortisation of land use rights lease prepayments 187 182
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 1
Employee share options 32 66
Finance costs 726 434
Finance income (515) (123)

Operating profi t before working capital changes 4,557 3,722
Changes in working capital:

Inventories (1,671) (13)
Trade and other receivables (330) 100
Trade and other payables 645 (792)

Cash generated from operations 3,201 3,017
Interest received 22 12
Income taxes paid (1,385) (1,604)

Net cash generated from operating activities 1,838 1,425

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (4,400) (4,274)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 11 1

Net cash used in investing activities (4,389) (4,273)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Proceeds from bank loan 3,442 -
Repayment of bank loan (1,797) - 
Net proceeds from convertible loan notes 995 1,865
Interest paid (436) (153)

Net cash generated from fi nancing activities 2,204 1,712

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (347) (1,136)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 17 (30)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3,248 4,414
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,918 3,248

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
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It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
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the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Notes
Year ended

 31 December 2010
Year ended

31 December 2009
 £'000  £'000 

Cash fl ows from operating activities
Loss before taxation (899) (421)

Adjustments for:
Employee share options 32 66
Finance costs 429 121
Finance income (34) (37)

Operating profi t before working capital changes (472) (271)
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (44) (15)
Trade and other payables 191 34

Cash used in operations (325) (252)
Interest received - 1

Net cash used in operating activities (325) (251)

Cash fl ows from investing activities
Advance to a subsidiary (454) (1,811)

Net cash used in investing activities (454) (1,811)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities
Proceeds from convertible loan notes 23.1 1,130 2,004
Payment of transaction costs 23.2 (135) (139)
Interest paid (302) -

Net cash generated from fi nancing activities 693 1,865

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (86) (197)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (37) (28)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 161 386
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 38 161

Company Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Share
 capital

Share
 premium

Shares 
to be

 issued
 reserve

Reverse
 acquisition

 reserve
Merger

 reserve

PRC
 statutory
reserves

Convertible
 loan notes -

 equity

Foreign
 exchange

 translation
 reserve

Retained
 profi ts

Total equity
 attributable

 to owners
 of the parent

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 
1 January 2010   2,656   25,678 116   (23,992)   2,216   2,671   121   6,299   14,289   30,054 

Employee share options 
granted   -  -  32   -    -  -    -    -    -  32 

Transfer to PRC statutory 
reserves   -    -    -    -    -    427   -    -    (427)   -  

Convertible loan notes 
– Equity   -    -    -    -    -    -    31   -    -    31 

Transactions with 
owners   - - 32   -   -   427 31 -   (427)   63

Profi t for the period   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2,319   2,319 

Other comprehensive 
income:

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2,053   -  2,053

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
period   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    2,053   2,319  4,372

As at 
31 December 2010   2,656   25,678 148   (23,992)   2,216   3,098   152 8,352   16,181 34,489 

As at 
1 January 2009 2,656 25,678 50 (23,992) 2,216 2,340 -    9,408   12,912 31,268 

Employee share options 
granted   -  -  66   -    -  -    -    -    -  66 

Transfer to PRC statutory 
Reserves   -    -    -    -    -    331   -    -    (331)   -  

Convertible loan notes 
– Equity   -    -    -    -    -    -    121   -    -    121 

Transactions with 
owners   - - 66   -   -   331   121 -   (331)   187 

Profi t for the period   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    1,708   1,708 

Other comprehensive 
income:

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign 
operations   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    (3,109)   -    (3,109)

Total comprehensive 
income for the 
period   -    -    -    -    -    -    -    (3,109)   1,708    (1,401)

As at 
31 December 2009   2,656   25,678 116   (23,992)   2,216   2,671   121   6,299   14,289   30,054 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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Share
 capital

Share
 premium

Shares to
 be issued

 reserve

Merger
 relief 

reserve

Convertible
 loan notes

 - equity
Accumulated

 losses 

Total equity
 attributable

 to owners of
 the parent

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 
1 January 2010   2,656   6,037   116   18,553   121   (1,072)   26,411 

Employee share options 
granted   -    -    32   -    -    -    32

Convertible loan notes 
- equity   -    -    -    -    31   -  31

Transactions with 
owners   -   - 32   -   31   -   63 

Loss for the period -  -  -  -  -   (899)  (899)

As at 
31 December 2010   2,656   6,037   148   18,553   152   (1,971)   25,575 

As at 
1 January 2009 2,656 6,037 50 18,553 -   (651) 26,645 

Employee share options 
granted   -    -    66   -    -    -    66

Convertible loan notes 
- equity   -    -    -    -    121   -    121 

Transactions with 
owners   -   -   66   -   121   -   187 

Loss for the period -  -  -  -  -   (421)  (421)

As at 
31 December 2009   2,656   6,037   116   18,553   121   (1,072)   26,411 

Company Statement of Changes In Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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1. General Information 

 Principal activities of China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) 
include the development, manufacture and distribution of cooking and dipping sauces and animal feed products. The 
Group’s main operations are in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). 

 China Food, a public limited company, is the Group’s ultimate parent company. It is incorporated and domiciled in 
the United Kingdom. The address of China Food’s registered offi ce is 49 Whitehall, London SW1A 2BX. China Food’s 
shares are listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. 

2. Changes in accounting policies

2.1 Overall Considerations

 The Group has adopted the following new interpretations, revisions and amendments to IFRS issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board, which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s fi nancial 
statements for the fi nancial year beginning 1 January 2010:

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised 2008) 
- IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised 2008)
- Improvements to IFRSs 2009

 Signifi cant effects on current, prior or future periods arising from the fi rst time application of these new 
requirements in respect of presentation, recognition and measurement are described in notes 2.2 to 2.4. An 
overview of standards, amendments and interpretations to IFRSs issued but not yet effective is given in note 
2.5.

2.2 Adoption of IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised 2008)

 The revised standard on business combinations (IFRS 3R) introduced major changes to the accounting 
requirements for business combinations. It retains the major features of the purchase method of accounting, 
now referred to as the acquisition method. The most signifi cant changes in IFRS 3R that will have an impact on 
the Group’s acquisition in future are as follows: 

•  acquisition-related costs of the combination are recorded as an expense in the income statement. 
Previously, these costs would have been accounted for as part of the cost of the acquisition 

•  any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration arrangement gives rise to a fi nancial liability, any subsequent changes are generally 
recognised in profi t or loss. Previously, contingent consideration was recognised only once its payment 
was probable and changes were recognised as an adjustment to goodwill 

•  the measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition-date fair values is 
retained. However, IFRS 3R includes certain exceptions and provides specifi c measurement rules.

 For the year ended 31 December 2010, the adoption of IFRS 3R has no effect on the Group’s fi nancial statements 
as there was no acquisition during the period. 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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2. Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.3 Adoption of IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Revised 2008)

 The adoption of IFRS 3R required that the revised IAS 27 (IAS 27R) is adopted at the same time. IAS 27R 
introduced changes to the accounting requirements for transactions with non-controlling (formerly called 
‘minority’) interests and the loss of control of a subsidiary. These changes are applied prospectively. During the 
current period, the Group had no transactions with non-controlling interests. 

2.4 Adoption of Improvements to IFRSs 2009 (Issued in April 2009)

 The Improvements to IFRSs 2009 made several minor amendments to IFRSs. The only amendment relevant 
to the Group relates to IAS 17 Leases. The amendment requires that leases of land are classifi ed as fi nance 
or operating by applying the general principles of IAS 17. Prior to this amendment, IAS 17 generally required 
a lease of land to be classifi ed as an operating lease. The Group has reassessed the classifi cation of the land 
elements of its unexpired leases at 1 January 2010 on the basis of information existing at the inception of those 
leases and has determined that none of its leases require reclassifi cation. 

2.5 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have 
not been adopted early by the Group

 At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 
to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the 
Group.

 Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies 
for the fi rst period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, 
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s fi nancial statements is provided 
below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group’s fi nancial statements.

 Annual Improvements 2010 (effective from 1 July 2010 and later) 
 The IASB has issued Improvements to IFRS 2010 (2010 Improvements). Most of these amendments become 

effective in annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011. The 2010 Improvements 
amend certain provisions of IFRS 3R, clarify presentation of the reconciliation of each of the components of 
other comprehensive income and clarify certain disclosure requirements for fi nancial instruments. The Group’s 
preliminary assessments indicate that the 2010 Improvements will not have a material impact on the Group’s 
fi nancial statements. 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective from 1 January 2013) 
 The IASB aims to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement in its entirety. The 

replacement standard (IFRS 9) is being issued in phases. To date, the chapters dealing with recognition, 
classifi cation, measurement and derecognition of fi nancial assets and liabilities have been issued. These 
chapters are effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2013. Further chapters dealing with impairment 
methodology and hedge accounting are still being developed. 

 Management have yet to assess the impact that this amendment is likely to have on the fi nancial statements of 
the Group. However, they do not expect to implement the amendments until all chapters of IFRS 9 have been 
published and they can comprehensively assess the impact of all changes. 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies of the Group are set out below.

3.1 Going Concern

 The Group statement of fi nancial position shows net current liabilities as at 31 December 2010, but 
notwithstanding this the Directors consider it to be appropriate to prepare these fi nancial statements under the 
going concern basis.

 The directors have reviewed forecasts and budgets for the coming year, which have been drawn up with 
appropriate regard for the current macroeconomic environment and the particular circumstances in which the 
Group operates. These were prepared with reference to historic and current industry knowledge, taking future 
strategy of the Group into account. New funds were raised in the year through a further convertible loan notes 
(net proceeds £1.0 million) issue and new bank loans (proceeds £3.4 million), which enabled the Group to 
complete and start operations at the new production facility at Shou Guang.  The existing operations have been 
generating funds to meet the Group’s short-term cash requirements. At 31 December 2010 the Group cash 
balance was £2.9 million.  The new facility was offi cially opened in May 2010. Scaled production will start in April 
2011. As average fermentation period is between three to six months for the new production facility, working 
capital of approximately £25,000 per silo will be locked up during the fermentation process. In anticipation of 
the working capital lock-up and the need to invest in marketing spend to secure penetration in new markets 
by the Group’s new products, the Group has secured a new bank loan of RMB30 million or £2.9 million from 
the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited to meet its expansion requirements. As a result of these 
considerations, at the time of approving the fi nancial statements, the directors consider that the Company 
and the Group have suffi cient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and 
accordingly, that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the fi nancial statements.

3.2 Presentation of fi nancial statements

 The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements (Revised 2007). The Group has elected to present the ‘Statement of comprehensive income’ in two 
statements: the ‘Income statement’ and a ‘Statement of comprehensive income’. 

 Two comparative periods are required to be presented for the statement of fi nancial position when the Group:

(i)  applies an accounting policy retrospectively,
(ii)  makes a retrospective restatement of items in its fi nancial statements, or
(iii)  reclassifi es items in the fi nancial statements.

 As good practice two comparative periods are presented despite none of the above conditions applying for 
2010.

3.3 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated fi nancial statements comprise the fi nancial statements of all the entities within the Group. 
The fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company. 
Consistent accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the individual fi nancial statements of the company have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the EU 
and under the historical cost convention. The measurement bases are set out below. 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Basis of preparation (continued)

 All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profi ts and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

(a) Reverse acquisition accounting

 In December 2007, the company successfully completed the acquisition of Full Fortune and its 
subsidiaries by an issuance of 40,333,333 new ordinary shares of the company and cash consideration 
of £5,000,000. 

 Due to the relative values of the companies, the former Full Fortune shareholders became majority 
shareholders with 60.74 per cent. of the enlarged ordinary share capital in China Food, and hence hold 
the majority of the voting rights. Further, the executive management of Full Fortune Group became that 
of China Food and the Corporate Headquarters of the Group was moved to the Full Fortune premises in 
Singapore. A qualitative and quantitative analysis of these factors led the Directors to conclude that in this 
transaction Full Fortune has the controlling interest and should be treated as the accounting acquirer.

 In determining the appropriate accounting treatment for the reverse acquisition, the Directors considered 
the Application Supplement to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. However, they concluded that this 
transaction fell outside of the scope of IFRS 3, since China Food, whose activities prior to the acquisition 
were limited to the management of cash resources and the maintenance of its listing, did not constitute 
a business.  It was therefore determined that the transaction should be accounted for in a manner that 
was similar to the reverse accounting as described in IFRS 3, but without recognising goodwill. 

 In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, in developing 
an appropriate accounting policy the Directors have considered the pronouncements of other standard-
setting bodies and specifi cally looked to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“US GAAP”) for guidance (FAS 141, Business Combinations). 

 Under US GAAP, in a reverse acquisition, the target company (Full Fortune) is treated as the acquiring 
company for fi nancial reporting purposes (no purchase accounting adjustments) and the fair value of the 
issuing company’s common shares (China Food) is recognised, together with adjustments necessary to 
refl ect the net tangible and identifi able intangible assets at their fair value with any remainder assigned to 
goodwill (full application of purchase accounting).

 Under US GAAP such a transaction is treated as an equity issuance by the operating entity (in this case 
Full Fortune). As a result, the cost of the combination is deemed to equal the net monetary assets of 
the acquiree (China Food) plus transaction costs.  Only costs incurred by the “target” company can be 
capitalised.

 As a consequence of applying the reverse acquisition accounting policy described, a reverse acquisition 
reserve was created (see note 3.15). 

(b) Business combinations involving entities under common control

 For the purposes of the consolidated fi nancial statements, the creation of the Full Fortune Group under 
the restructuring exercise before the completion of the reverse acquisition was treated as a business 
combination involving entities under common control. A business combination is a “common control 
combination” if the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same party (including the same 
individual shareholder or a group of shareholders acting together in accordance with a contractual 
arrangement) both before and after the combination and the common control is not transitory. 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Directors’ Report

1

ANNUAL REPORT 2011ANNUAL REPORT 2010

39

3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) Business combinations involving entities under common control (continued)

 Business combinations involving entities under common control fall outside the scope of IFRS 3: Business 
Combinations. In accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors, management have considered the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies in developing 
an accounting policy for common control combinations, in particular the pooling of interest-type method 
prescribed under US GAAP in paragraphs D11 to D18 of SFAS 141, Business Combinations. As a result, 
the Full Fortune Group accounts for business combinations involving entities under common control using 
pooling of interest-type accounting. Under this policy the assets and liabilities of the acquiree are recorded at 
book value not fair value (although adjustments are made to achieve uniform accounting policies), intangible 
assets and contingent liabilities are recognised only to the extent that they were recognised by the acquiree 
in accordance with applicable IFRS, no goodwill is recorded, any expenses of the combination are written 
off immediately in the income statement and comparative amounts are restated as if the combination had 
taken place at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.

(c) Subsidiary undertakings

 As at 31 December 2009 and 2010, China Food had the following subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary

Date and
place of

establishment

Percentage 
of equity 

attributable to 
China Food Principal activities

Full Fortune Holdings Pte Ltd 26 May 2005
Singapore

100% Holding company

Held by Full Fortune

Fuss Feed (Weifang) Co., Ltd
(“Fuss Feed”) 
富氏饲料(潍坊)有限公司

28 November 1994
PRC

100% Manufacture and sale of 
animal feed

Shandong Fuss Biotech Co., Ltd
(“Fuss Biotech”)
山东富氏生物科技有限公司

24 June 2005
PRC

100% Manufacture and sales 
of condiments

Held by Fuss Feed

Shandong Fu-Rich Co., Ltd 
(“Fu-Rich”)
山东富氏味业有限公司

7 August 2001
PRC

100% Manufacture and sale of 
condiments

 
 All of the above subsidiaries are included in the consolidated fi nancial statements.

(d) Investments

 Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost, less provisions for diminution in carrying value. 



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 – 5  –  CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Directors’ Report

1

ANNUAL REPORT 2011ANNUAL REPORT 2010

40

3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Signifi cant accounting estimates and judgments

 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgments are made in the preparation of the fi nancial 
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based 
on experience and relevant factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

 Critical judgments 

 The judgments made which, in the opinion of the Directors, are critical in drawing up the fi nancial statements 
are as follows:

(i) Accounting for the reverse acquisition transaction

 As explained in note 3.3 (a), the Directors are of the opinion that this transaction fell outside of the scope 
of IFRS 3, and as such they needed to devise an appropriate accounting policy by reference to the 
pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies.  The judgment taken was that US GAAP provides the 
most appropriate basis in this case, and the accounting policy note sets out the accounting implications 
of following this approach.

(ii) Accounting for the Full Fortune business combination

 As explained in note 3.3 (b), the Directors are of the opinion that this transaction fell outside of the scope 
of IFRS 3, and as such they needed to devise an appropriate accounting policy by reference to the 
pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies. The judgment taken was that US GAAP provides the 
most appropriate basis in this case, and the accounting policy note sets out the accounting implications 
of following this approach.

(iii) Classifi cation of Land Use Rights as Operating Leases

 Within the PRC it is the practice for the State to issue Land Use Rights to individuals or entities. Such 
rights are evidenced through the granting of a Land Use Rights certifi cate, which gives the holder the 
right to use the land (including the construction of buildings thereon) for a given length of time. An upfront 
payment is made for these rights. The Directors judge that the substance of these arrangements is an 
operating lease over the land, and that the upfront payment represents prepaid lease rentals. As such a 
prepayment is recognised in the balance sheet, analysed between current and non-current assets. The 
prepayment is amortised to spread the lease cost over the duration of the term of the land use rights, as 
specifi ed in the lease certifi cate. See also notes 3.7 and 11.

(iv) Functional currency of China Food Company PLC

 The Company is incorporated in England and Wales.   The registered offi ce is 49 Whitehall, London 
and the Company’s shares are listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  Certain of 
the Directors are based in the UK and remunerated through this Company.  The UK head offi ce has 
responsibility for corporate functions such as fund raising, treasury, company secretarial and other 
aspects in relation to maintaining the AIM listing.  The company incurs costs in respect of these activities 
which are denominated in GBP, and are suffi ciently signifi cant for the Directors to be satisfi ed that 
the Company operates as an entity in its own right as envisaged under IAS 21.   In turn it levies a 
management fee to its subsidiaries in respect of services performed.  As such the Directors conclude 
that the functional currency of the Company is GBP.
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Signifi cant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance 
sheet date are discussed below.  These are included for completeness, although it is the Directors’ view that 
none of these have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next fi nancial year.  

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

 The Group evaluates whether items of property, plant and equipment have suffered any impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may 
not be recoverable, in accordance with the stated accounting policy. Under the requirements of IAS 
36, Impairment of Assets, when the marker capitalisation of an entity exceeds the net assets of that 
entity, this is considered to be an indicator of impairment.  Therefore an impairment review has been 
undertaken in accordance with IAS 36.  The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been 
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates which 
are explained in note 10. The carrying amounts of these assets are disclosed in note 10.

 (ii) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

 The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. 
Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be within 2 to 20 years. 
These are common life expectancies applied in the industry in which the Group operates. Changes in the 
expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the 
residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

3.5 Functional and foreign currency

(a) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of China Food 
and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange 
rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at the balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement except for exchange differences 
arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which are 
charged/credited to other comprehensive income and recognised in the currency translation reserve in 
the consolidated balance sheet and recognised in the consolidated profi t and loss account on disposal 
of the subsidiary.
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.5 Functional and foreign currency (continued)

(b) Foreign currency translations
  
 The results and fi nancial position of foreign operations are translated into the presentational currency of 

China Food (GBP) using the following procedures:

 •  Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing exchange 
rate ruling at the balance sheet date; and

 •  Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for 
the year, which approximate the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

 All resulting exchange differences are charged/credited through other comprehensive income and 
recognised in the currency translation reserve.

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, 
plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

• Buildings – 20 years
• Plant and machinery – 10 years
• Equipment – 2 - 5 years
• Motor vehicles – 5 years

 Depreciation of the assets of the new soya sauce factory is computed based on its production capacity achieved 
during the year when the utilisation rate is less than 75%. Depreciation is provided for full amount when the 
utilization rate reaches 75%. There was no depreciation provided on the assets of the new soya sauce factory 
as there were no fi nished goods produced from the new factory during the year ended 31 December 2010.

 Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction, which is stated at 
cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction 
and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in 
progress is reclassifi ed to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready 
for use. 

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each fi nancial year-end to ensure 
that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefi ts embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefi ts 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the 
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised. 
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.7  Leased assets

 In accordance with IAS 17 Leases, the economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the 
lessee bears substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset, with the related 
asset recognised at the time of inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present 
value of the minimum lease payments plus incidental payments, if any, to be borne by the lessee, and with a 
corresponding amount recognised as a fi nance leasing liability. On such leases, the interest element of leasing 
payments represents a constant proportion of the capital balance outstanding and is charged to the income 
statement over the period of the lease.

 All other leases are regarded as operating leases and the payments made under them are charged to the income 
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are spread over the term of the lease.

 The land use rights held by the Group are regarded as operating leases. The amounts paid for these rights 
are treated as lease prepayments and are amortised over the period for which the rights have been granted in 
accordance with the land use rights certifi cate.

3.8 Impairment of non-fi nancial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate 
of the asset’s recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash infl ows 
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that refl ects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the asset. Where the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement as ‘impairment losses’.

3.9 Financial assets

 Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics 
of the instrument and its purpose. All fi nancial assets of the Group are classifi ed as loans and receivables. 

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less impairment losses. Any change in their value is recognised in the income statement.

 Signifi cant receivables are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due at the 
balance sheet date or when objective evidence is received that a specifi c counterparty will default. All other 
receivables are reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and region 
of a counterparty and other available features of shared credit risk characteristics, if any. The percentage of the 
write down is then based on recent historical counterparty default rates for each identifi ed group.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes 
in value. 
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.11 Impairment of fi nancial assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a fi nancial asset 
or group of fi nancial assets is impaired.

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash fl ows discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

 The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss 
is recognised in the income statement. 

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the 
extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

3.12 Derecognition of fi nancial assets

 A fi nancial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash fl ows from the asset have expired.

3.13 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average 
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.14 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, payables to related parties and interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings. Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the fi nancial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at 
fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expired.

 Convertible loan notes

 Convertible loan notes issued by the Group are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability 
component and an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated 
using the prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The difference between the proceeds 
of issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the 
embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the Group, is included in equity.
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.14 Financial liabilities (continued)

 Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible loan notes based 
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged 
directly against equity.

 The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rate for 
similar non-convertible debt to the liability component of the instrument. The difference between this amount 
and the interest paid is added to the carrying amount of the convertible loan note.

3.15 Equity

 For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group, the share capital represents 
the nominal value of the issued share capital of China Food. Share premium represents the excess over nominal 
value of the fair value of consideration received for equity shares, net of expenses of the share issue.

 For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group, the merger reserve 
represents the combined paid-up registered capital of the subsidiaries of Full Fortune less the payment made by 
Fuss Feed for the acquisition of Fu-Rich. It arises as a result of adopting the pooling of interest-type accounting 
method described in note 3.3(b).

 The PRC statutory reserves comprise the capital reserves and the surplus reserves of the subsidiaries of Full 
Fortune established in the PRC which were set up in accordance with their respective articles of association and 
the relevant PRC laws and regulations.

 The shares to be issued reserve represents equity-settled share-based payments until such share options are 
exercised.

 The reverse acquisition reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 3.3(a) in 
respect of the RTO completed in 2007.

 Foreign currency translation reserve represents the differences arising from translation of investments in overseas 
subsidiaries.

3.16 Share-based payments

 All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated fi nancial statements in the period in 
which the associated goods or services are provided. 

 The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. None of the Group’s 
plans feature any options for a cash settlement.

 All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair 
values. Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees’ services are 
determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This fair value is appraised 
at the grant date and excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions.
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.16 Share-based payments (continued)

 All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in profi t or loss with a corresponding 
credit to “Shares to be issued reserve”. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is 
allocated over the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected 
to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are 
expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number 
of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting 
is recognised in the current period. No adjustment is made to any expense recognised in prior periods if share 
options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on vesting.

 Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to 
the nominal value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share 
premium. All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured 
at their fair values at the date the services are provided by reference to the fair value of the services provided.

3.17 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and 
the expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are 
ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recorded

 
3.18 Employee benefi ts - Defi ned contribution plans

 Full Fortune, a Singapore incorporated company, makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in 
Singapore, a defi ned contribution pension scheme.

 As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group contribute to state-
sponsored retirement plans for their employees in the PRC at rates of 20% of the basic salaries of their 
employees, and have no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefi ts. 
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired 
employees.

 The pensions costs charged against profi ts are the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the 
accounting period.

3.19 Segment reporting

 In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines, which represent 
the main products and services provided by the Group. The activities undertaken by the condiments segment 
include the sale of cooking and dipping sauces. The activities undertaken by the animal feed segment include 
the sale of animal feed. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of these service lines 
requires different technologies and other resources as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers 
are carried out at arm’s length prices.
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3. Summary of signifi cant accounting policies (continued)

3.19 Segment reporting (continued)

 The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in 
its fi nancial statements, except that expenses relating to share-based payments are not included in arriving at 
the operating profi t of the operating segments. In addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable 
to the business activities of any operating segment are not allocated to a segment. In the fi nancial periods under 
review, this primarily applies to the Group’s headquarters.

 There have been no changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to determine reported 
segment profi t or loss.  No assymetrical allocations have been applied between segments.

3.20 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.

 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfi ed: 

(a) the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
(b) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
(c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
(d) it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the Group;
(e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

 For both the Feed and Condiments businesses these conditions are considered to have been satisfi ed when 
the customer either collects or takes delivery of the goods.

 Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless collectibility is in 
doubt.

3.21 Income taxes

(a) Current tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

(b) Sales tax

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

 •  Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

 • Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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4. Revenue

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended
 31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Sale of goods 35,891 30,136
 

5. Other operating income

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Sundry income 9 7

6. Finance income and fi nance costs

 Finance income and costs include all interest-related income and expenses. The following amounts have been included 
in the income statement line for the reporting periods presented:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£'000 £'000
Loans and receivables:
   - Cash and short-term deposits   22   12 
Gain on foreign currency fi nancial liabilities  493  111 
Finance income  515  123

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£'000 £'000

Interest expense for bank borrowings at amortised cost
  

135 
  

153 
Interest expense on shareholder's loan
Interest expense on convertible loan

  189
  402

  231
  50

Finance costs   726   434
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7. Profi t before tax

 Group
Year ended 

31 December 2010
Year ended 

31 December 2009
Profi t before tax is arrived at after charging: £’000 £’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
- Buildings 216 210
- Plant and machinery 92 88
- Equipment 19 12
- Motor vehicles 41 32

368 342

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6 1
Amortisation of land use rights lease prepayment 187 182
Cost of inventories expensed 28,060 23,779

Auditors’ remuneration:
Payable to the company’s auditors:
-  audit of the consolidated fi nancial statements   39   46 
Payable to the company’s auditors and its associates for other 

services:
-  audit of the fi nancial statements of the company’s subsidiaries 

pursuant to Legislation 68 61
Payable to the PRC auditors 1 2

 Average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive directors) during the year:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Production 380 260
Sales and marketing 294 308
Administration 115 92

789 660

 In accordance with the Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its individual income 
statement. The result for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2010 was a loss of £899,000 (2009: £421,000).
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8. Income tax

(a) The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000
Current income tax
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,434 1,112
Income tax expense recognised in the income 

statement 1,434 1,112

 China Food is subject to a United Kingdom Tax rate of 28% (2009: 28%).

 Full Fortune is subject to a Singapore Income Tax rate of 17% (2009:17%).  As Full Fortune has no trading 
income, the expenses incurred cannot be carried forward as tax losses.

 Fuss Feed is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%).

 Fu-Rich is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%).

 Fuss Biotech is not subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax as it enjoyed a tax holiday for the year ended 31 
December 2010 (2009: Nil). 

(b) A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profi t multiplied by the applicable corporate 
tax rates is as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Accounting profi t before tax 3,753 2,820

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profi ts / losses in 
the countries concerned (see above) 945 753

Adjustments:
- Non-deductible expenses 7 6
- Unrelieved tax losses 481 353
- Over provision 1 -

Income tax expense recognised in the income statement 1,434 1,112

 No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised, principally as a result of the taxable profi ts for the China companies 
equating to accounting profi ts, and there being no differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and 
the carrying values in the balance sheet.

(c) There was no material unprovided deferred tax as at 31 December 2010.
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9. Earnings per share and dividends

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

Profi t after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 
(£’000) 2,319 1,708

Profi t after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 
for  calculation of diluted earnings (£’000) 2,665 1,708

Weighted average number of shares (used for basic earnings per 
share) 66,399,991 66,399,991

Dilutive effect 10,148,880 -
Dilutive weighted average number of shares (used for dilutive 

earnings per share) 76,548,871 66,399,991

Basic earnings per share (pence) 3.49 2.57

Diluted earnings per share (pence) 3.48 2.57

 Earnings per share has been calculated on 66,399,991 shares (2009: 66,399,991 shares), and on attributable earnings 
of £2,319,000 (2009: £1,708,000). 

 Diluted earnings per share has been calculated on 76,548,871 shares (2009: 66,399,991 shares), and on fully diluted 
earnings of £2,665,000 (2009: £1,708,000). 

 The warrant granted to Strand Partners to subscribe 1,328,000 shares (2009: 1,328,000 shares) at £0.50 per share 
(see note 21.2.2), the share options granted to employees to subscribe 4,648,000 shares (2009: 4,648,000) at £0.355 
per share (see note 21.2.1), and the convertible loan notes A&B issued (see note 17) have dilution effect on the 
calculation of the diluted earnings per share as the market price of the Company’s shares was higher than the exercise 
prices and conversion price at 31 December 2010.

 
 No dividend is proposed for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).
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10. Property, plant and equipment

 Group

Buildings
Construction

 in progress
Plant and 

machineries Equipment
Motor

 vehicles Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost            
As at 
1 January 2008 3,455 7,904 743 71 220 12,393
Additions - 10,743 65 23 10 10,841
Disposal  - -  - (2)  (11)  (13)
Foreign currency 

translation 
adjustment 1,559 6,576 354 38 97 8,624

As at 
31 December 2008 5,014 25,223 1,162 130 316 31,845
Additions 1 4,215 32 26 - 4,274
Disposal  - -  (5) (3)  -  (8)
Foreign currency 

translation 
adjustment (480) (2,534) (112) (13) (31) (3,170)

As at
31 December 2009 4,535 26,904 1,077 140 285 32,941
Additions - 5 6,606 50 120 6,781
Transfers 18,794 (28,394) 9,600 - - -
Disposal  - -  (34) (8)  (10)  (52)
Foreign currency 

translation 
adjustment 646 1,490 349 12 23 2,520

As at
31 December 2010 23,975 5 17,598 194 418 42,190
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The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Buildings
Construction

 in progress
Plant and 

machineries Equipment
Motor

 vehicles Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Accumulated depreciation
As at 
1 January 2008 779 

  
-  288 56 94 1,217

Charge for the year 177   -  69 10 27 283
Written back on 

disposal - - - (2)  (8)  (10)
Foreign currency 

translation 
adjustment 401 

  
  -  149 27 46 623

As at 
31 December 2008 1,357 

  
-  506 91 159 2,113

Charge for the year 210   -  88 12 32 342
Written back on 

disposal - - (3) (2)  -  (5)
Foreign currency 

translation 
adjustment (135) 

  
  -  (51) (9) (16) (211)

As at
31 December 2009 1,432 

  
-  540 92 175 2,239

Charge for the year 216   -  92 19 41 368
Written back on 

disposal - - (19) (7) (9)  (35)
Foreign currency 

translation 
adjustment 107 

  
  -  41 8 14 170

As at 
31 December 2010 1,755

  
-  654 112 221 2,742

         
Net book value          
As at 
31 December 2010 22,220 5 16,944 82 197 39,448
As at
31 December 2009 3,103 26,904 537 48 110 30,702
As at
31 December 2008 3,657 25,223 656 39 157 29,732

 As at 31 December 2010 the buildings with net book values of £9,608,000 were pledged as security for the bank loans 
(2009: £2,723,000 and 2008: £3,206,000) (note 16).
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 For the purpose of impairment testing, non-fi nancial assets have been grouped in accordance with the business 
segments identifi ed. In consideration of the relatively smaller proportion of the non-fi nancial assets attributable to the 
feed segment, only the condiment segment has been tested for impairment. The recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit was determined based on value-in-use calculations, covering a detailed fi ve-year forecast, followed by 
an extrapolation of expected cash fl ows for the unit’s remaining useful lives using the growth rate of 0% per annum from 
the third  year onwards. These forecasts refl ect expectations as to the cash fl ows that will be generated once the new 
manufacturing facility is brought into operation from 2011.  To-date this signifi cant capital investment, which has largely 
been funded from the Group’s operating cash fl ows, has not been generating a return for the business. A discount rate 
of 14.2% has been used for this calculation. No impairment loss has been identifi ed as a result of this review. 

 Apart from the considerations described in determining the value in use of the cash-generating unit described above, 
management is not currently aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.  

11. Land use rights lease prepayments

 Group
Year ended 

31 December 2010
Year ended 

31 December 2009
Year ended 

31 December 2008
£'000 £'000 £'000

Net book value as at 1 January   8,153   9,214   6,507 
Amortisation of payments over lease 

term  (187)  (182)  (180)
Foreign currency translation difference   592   (879)   2,887 
Net book value as at 31 December   8,558   8,153   9,214 

Of which:
   Current   190   177    196 
   Non-current   8,368   7,976   9,018 

  8,558   8,153   9,214 
 
 The Group’s land use rights lease prepayments are being amortised straight-line over 45 to 50 year terms. 

 As at 31 December 2010 the land use rights lease prepayments with net book values of £3,051,000 were pledged as 
security for the bank loans (2009: £2,964,000 and 2008: £3,350,000) (note 16).

12. Inventories

 Group
As at 

31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000

Raw materials 2,514 1,022 796
Work-in-progress 217 101 175
Finished goods 271 208 347

3,002 1,331 1,318
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13. Trade and other receivables

 Group
As at 

31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade receivables 554 346 391
Other receivables 162 51 97
Prepayments 21 14 21
VAT recoverable 13 9 11

750 420 520

 Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest bearing. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which 
represent their fair values on initial recognition less provision for impairment where this is required. No provision for 
impairment has been recorded in 2010 or 2009. Past due not impaired balances are not material. All trade receivables 
are denominated in RMB.

 
 Company

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£’000 £’000 £’000

Other receivables 2 - -
Prepayments 3 9  10

5 9 10

14. Cash and bank balances

 Group

 The cash and bank balances of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£’000 £’000 £’000

RMB 2,760 2,748 3,626
SGD 5 77 395
GBP 153 423 392
USD - - 1

2,918 3,248 4,414

 Cash at banks earns interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

 The conversion of RMB denominated cash and bank balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of these funds 
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
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14. Cash and bank balances (continued)

 Company
As at 

31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000

GBP 38 161 386

15. Trade and other payables

 Group
As at 

 31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade payables   2,817   2,414   2,624
Other payables
   - Bills payable   680   362   701 
   - Amount due to a related party   -   49   54 
   - Others   2,634   429   500
Accrued expenses 1,452 1,164 1,043 
Receipts in advance - - 7 

7,583 4,418 4,929

 Trade and other payables are unsecured and non-interest bearing. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts 
which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

 The amount due to a related party as at 31 December 2009 represents the amount due to Mr Fu Guoping who is the 
benefi cial owner of Main World Investments Limited, one of the major shareholders of the company. It is unsecured, 
non-interest bearing, and was settled in the year. 

 Company
As at 

 31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
£’000  £’000 £’000

Other payables 42 27 16
Accrued expenses 383 230 85

425 257 101

16. Bank loans

 All bank loans of the Group are denominated in RMB. The effective interest rate of the bank loans for the year ended 
31 December 2010 was approximately from 6.21% to 8.28% (2009: approximately from 7.43% to 8.66% and 2008: 
approximately from 8.54% to 9.47%).

 The bank loans as at 31 December 2010 were secured by charges over the buildings and land use rights lease 
prepayments of the Group with net book values of £9,608,000 (2009: £2,723,000 and 2008: £3,206,000) and 
£3,051,000 (2009: £2,964,000 and 2008: £3,350,000), respectively as at 31 December 2009.
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17. Convertible loan notes

 The convertible loan notes A&B (Notes A&B) were issued between 3 November 2009 and 15 December 2009. The 
Notes A&B are convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the notes 
and their maturity date, i.e. three years after the date of issue. The loan notes are convertible at £0.32 per share. The 
effective interest rate used to calculate the interest charged to the income statement was 12%. If the Notes A&B 
have not been converted, they will be redeemed on their maturity date at par. Interest of 10% per annum will be paid 
biannually up until that date.

 The convertible loan notes C (Notes C) were issued on 23 June 2010. The Notes C are convertible into ordinary shares 
of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and their maturity date, i.e. two years after the 
date of issue. The loan notes are convertible at £0.50 per share. The effective interest rate use to calculate the interest 
charged to the income statement was 10%. If the Notes C have not been converted, they will be redeemed on their 
maturity date at par. Interest of 8% per annum will be paid biannually up until that date.

 The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the liability element 
and an equity component, representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the 
Group, as follows:

Notes A&B Notes C Total
Gross

 amount
Transaction

 costs
Net

 amount
Gross

 amount
Transaction

 costs
Net

 amount
Net

 amount
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Convertible loan notes 
issued 3,004 188 2,816 1,130 86 1,044 3,860

Equity component  (127)  (8)  (119) (36) (3) (33) (152)
Liability component 

at date of issue 2,877 180 2,697 1,094 83 1,011 3,708
Interest charged 395 57 452
Interest paid (255)  (47) (302)
Liability component at 

31 December 2010 2,837 1,021 3,858

Notes A&B
Gross amount Transaction costs Net amount

£'000 £'000 £'000

Convertible loan notes issued 3,004 139 2,865 
Equity component   (127)   (6)   (121)
Liability component at date of issue   2,877   133   2,744 
Interest charged   50 
Interest paid   -  
Liability component at 

31 December 2009   2,794 

 The directors estimate the fair value of the liability component of the convertible loan notes at 31 December 2010 to be 
approximately £3,858,000 (2009: £2,794,000).
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The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
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Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
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Notes A issued
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18. Shareholders’ loans

 Group 
As at 

31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
 £'000  £'000 £’000

Current 501 440 478 
Non-current 3,748 3,611 5,132 

4,249 4,051  5,610

 There are two shareholder loans in place – one denominated in USD which is non-current, and one denominated in 
SGD which is current. 

 The current portion of the loan from a shareholder is denominated in SGD, and is unsecured, interest free and repayable 
on demand.

 The non-current portion of the loan from a shareholder is denominated in USD, and is unsecured, bears interest of 5% 
per annum and will expire on 11 November 2012.

 Company
As at 

 31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at 

31 December 2008
£,000  £,000 £’000

Non-current 537 518 1,713
537 518 1,713

 Theloan from a shareholder is denominated in USD. It is unsecured, bears interest of 5% per annum and will expire on 
11 November 2012.

19. Share capital

No. of shares £’000
Authorised

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010
- Ordinary shares of 4p each   100,000,000   4,000 

Issued, called up and fully paid

As at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 
- Ordinary shares of 4p each   66,399,991   2,656 
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20. Share premium 

 Group
As at As at

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
 £’000

 
 £’000

 
At end of period   25,678   25,678

 Company
As at As at

31 December 2010 31 December 2009
 £’000

 
 £’000

 
At end of period 6,037 6,037

 It was ascertained that the reverse acquisition of Full Fortune Holdings Pte Ltd by the Company in 2007 qualifi ed for 
merger relief under s131 Companies Act 1985.  Accordingly the share premium previously recognised as arising on the 
shares issued by the Company in that transaction was reclassifi ed as a ‘merger relief reserve’.

21. Employee remuneration

21.1 Employee benefi ts expenses

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2010 31 December 2009

 £’000  £’000 
Employee benefi ts expenses
- Salaries and allowances 1,979 1,525
- Pension scheme contributions 105 42
- Share-based payment 32 66

2,116 1,633

 Remuneration of the Directors is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration report and note 26.

21.2 Share-based payments

21.2.1 Employee share option

 The Group established a share option scheme in 2007 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 10 June 2009 
(the “Date of Grant”), the Group granted 4,648,000 options to its Directors and employees with an 
exercise price of £0.355 per ordinary share. The purpose of granting options under the Share Option 
Scheme was to incentivise and reward the Group’s employees. 
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21. Employee remuneration (continued)

21.2 Share-based payments (continued)

21.2.1 Employee share option (continued)

 The Options may normally be exercised as follows:

Date of Grant Vesting dates Number of options granted Total
Directors Employees

10 June 2009 From the date of grant 464,800 1,084,533 1,549,333

From the date falling 12 
months after the date of 
grant 464,800 1,084,533 1,549,333

From the date falling 24 
months after the date of 
grant 464,800 1,084,534 1,549,334

1,394,400 3,253,600 4,648,000

 As at 31 December 2010, all options remained unexercised. 

 The fair values of options granted were determined using the binomial option pricing model. The following 
principal assumptions were used in the valuation:

Exercise price (£) 0.355
Market price (£) 0.313
Option life 2 years
Volatility 20%
Risk free interest rate 1.12%
Dividend yield   -  
Fair value at date of grant (£) 0.0225

 The underlying expected volatility was determined by reference to historical data of the Company’s 
shares from the date of completion of the reverse takeover to the date of grant of the share options. 
Though the options have a contract life of ten years, a shorter option life is used as early exercise is 
expected. No special features inherent to the options granted were incorporated into measurement of 
fair value.

 In total, £32,000 of employee remuneration expense (all of which related to equity-settled share-based 
payment transactions) has been included in profi t and loss for 2010 (2009: £66,000) and credited to 
“shares to be issued reserve”.
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21. Employee remuneration (continued)

21.2 Share-based payments (continued)

21.2.2 Other share-based payments

 China Food granted Strand Partners a warrant to subscribe for 1,328,000 new ordinary shares of 
the company at a subscription price of £0.50 per share. The warrant may be exercised at any time 
during the period of fi ve years from 10 December 2007. As at 31 December 2010 the warrant remained 
unexercised.

22. Investments in subsidiaries

 Company
As at 

31 December 2010
As at 

31 December 2009
As at

31 December 2008
 £'000  £'000 £'000

Equity investment 25,167 25,167 25,167
Advance to a subsidiary 3,415 2,961 1,150
As at end of the period 28,582 28,128 26,317 

 Please refer to note 3.3(c) for details of the subsidiary companies of the Company.

 The advance to a subsidiary was capitalised because repayment was neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future 
and is viewed as a capital contribution to be treated as equity.

23 Notes to the Company statement of cash fl ows

23.1 Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes
 

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued for cash 1,130 2,004
Convertible loan notes issued by converting shareholder’s 

loan - 1,000
1,130 3,004

23.2 Payment of transaction costs

 Transaction costs were professional fees paid to lawyers, accountants, and advisers for the Company in 
connection with the convertible loan notes.
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24. Capital commitments

 Group

 As at the balance sheet date, capital expenditure contracted for but not recognised in the fi nancial statements is as 
follows:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000
Capital commitments in respect of:

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment - 577
- 577

25. Related party disclosures 

 Group

 An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purposes of the fi nancial statements if: (i) it 
possesses the ability (directly or indirectly) to control or exercise signifi cant infl uence over the operating and fi nancial 
decisions of the Group or vice versa; or (ii) it is subject to common control.

(a) In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the fi nancial statements, the following signifi cant 
related party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the parties:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000
Director
Convertible loan interest 9 1

Main World Investments Limited(1)

Convertible loan interest 115 19
Shareholder loan interest 189 231

Albany Capital Group Limited(2)

Convertible loan interest 57 9
Management fee payable 25 24

Sorbic International PLC(3)

Service fee receivable 11 12

(1) Main World Investments Limited is one of the major shareholders of the Company.
(2) Albany Capital Group Limited (“ACGL”) is one of the major shareholders of the Company. One of the 

directors of the Company is also the director and shareholder of ACGL.
(3) One of the directors of the Company is also the director of Sorbic International PLC.
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25. Related party disclosures (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (as recognised in the consolidated income statement)

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefi ts 653 532
Post employment benefi ts 22 18
Share-based payments 15 31
Total compensation to key management personnel 690 581

Comprised amounts paid to:
Directors 607 494
Other key management personnel of the Group 83 87

690 581

(c) Convertible loan notes

 As at 31 December 2010, outstanding convertible loan notes owed to the directors were as follows:

Direct Deemed
 £’000 £’000

Principal 50 1,525
Interest accrued 1 28

51 1,553
 
 Deemed interests are indirect holdings, namely shares owned by the spouse of a director, and by a company in 

which a director holds offi ce.

(d) Ultimate controlling party

 China Food is a public listed company with no single controlling party.

 Company

 The following signifi cant related party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the parties:
As at

31 December 2010
As at

31 December 2009
 £’000

 
 £’000

 
Advance to a subsidiary 1,601 1,546

Amount due from a subsidiary 156 77
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25. Related party disclosures (continued)

 The advance to a subsidiary represents an amount extended by China Food to a subsidiary. It is unsecured, interest 
free and has no fi xed terms of repayment.

 The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and has no fi xed terms of repayment. 

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Management fee income  from a subsidiary 100 100

Directors
Convertible loan interest 9 1

Main World Investments Limited(1)

Convertible loan interest 115 19
Shareholder loan interest 27 72

Albany Capital Group Limited(2)

Convertible loan interest 57 9
Management fee payable 25 24

(1) Main World Investments Limited is one of the major shareholders of the Company.
(2) Albany Capital Group Limited (“ACGL”) is one of the major shareholders of the Company. One of the directors 

of the Company is also the director and shareholder of ACGL.

 As at 31 December 2010, outstanding convertible loan notes owed to the directors were as follows:

Direct Deemed
 £’000 £’000

Principal 50 1,525
Interest accrued 1 28

51 1,553

 Deemed interests are indirect holdings, namely shares owned by the spouse of a director, and by a company in which 
a director holds offi ce.
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26. Directors’ remuneration

 Remuneration paid to or receivable by Directors of China Food in respect of qualifying services was as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended
 31 December 2009

£’000  £’000 

Aggregate fees and emoluments 579 459
Pension scheme contributions 18 16
Share-based payment 10 19

607 494

Total emoluments include the following amounts in respect of the highest paid director:

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended
 31 December 2009

£’000 £’000

Salary and benefi ts 223 162

 There are no directors to whom retirement benefi ts are accruing under money purchase pension schemes.

27. Risk management objectives and policies

 China Food is exposed to market risk through its use of fi nancial instruments and specifi cally to currency risk, interest 
rate risk, credit and liquidity risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities. 
The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close co-operation with the Board of directors, 
and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash fl ows by minimising the exposure to fi nancial 
markets. 

 The Group’s raw materials consist of commodities such as soya bean, corn, wheat and sorghum. Most of these raw 
materials are purchased direct from farmers. The directors concluded this is not considered an area where sensitivity 
analysis is of value even though it is infl uenced by market prices.

 China Food does not engage in the trading of fi nancial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. The 
most signifi cant fi nancial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. See also note 27.5 for a summary 
of the Group’s fi nancial assets and liabilities by category.
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.1 Foreign currency sensitivity

 Group

 Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in the PRC. Both sales and purchases are primarily denominated 
in RMB. The amounts to be paid and received in RMB are expected to largely offset one another, no hedging 
activity is undertaken.  However, as the Group’s fi nancial statements are prepared in GBP, its exposure to foreign 
currency translation is analysed as follows:

 Foreign currency denominated fi nancial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as 
follows:

As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009 As at 31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000

Nominal amounts USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Financial assets - 3,485 13 - 3,143   83 1 4,106 414
Financial liabilities - (1,166)   (499) - (2,246)   (440) - (2,485)  (478)
Short-term exposure  - 2,319   (486)  - 897   (357) 1 1,621 (64)

Financial liabilities (3,740)   (2,916)    -  (3,611)   -    -  (5,139) - -
Long-term exposure (3,740)   (2,916)    -  (3,611)   -    -  (5,139) - -

 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Group’s 
fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities and the GBP - USD, GBP - RMB and GBP - SGD exchange rate.

 It assumes a +2.2% / -3.0% change of the GBP/USD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 2010 
(2009: +3.2% / -1.5% and 2008: +0.3% / -5.0% %). A +2.0% / -2.6% change of the GBP/RMB exchange rate 
for the year ended at 31 December 2010 (2009: +3.8% / -1.3% and 2008: +0.0% / -5.0%). A +1.7% / -2.1% 
change of the GBP/SGD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 2010 (2009: +2.2% / -1.9% and 
2008: +0.2% / -5.0%). Each of these percentages has been determined based on the average monthly market 
volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s foreign 
currency fi nancial instruments held at each balance sheet date.

 If the GBP had strengthened against the USD, RMB and SGD by 2.2% (2009: 3.2% and 2008: 0.3%), 2.0% 
(2009: 3.8% and 2008: 1.0%) and 1.7% (2009: 2.2% and 2008: 0.2%) respectively then this would have had 
the following increase/(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009 As at 31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 ’000

USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Net result for the year  81 12 8  112  (33) 8 15 - -
Equity  81 12 8  112 (33) 8 15 - -
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.1 Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

 If the GBP had weakened against the USD, RMB and SGD by 3.0% (2009: 1.5% and 2008: 5.0%), 2.6% (2009: 
1.3% and 2008: 5.0%) and 2.1% (2009: 1.9% and 2008: 5.0%) respectively then this would have had the 
following increase/(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009 As at 31 December 2008
£’000 £’000 £’000

USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Net result for the year (116) (16) (10) (55) 12 (7) (270) 85 (3)
Equity (116) (16) (10) (55) 12 (7) (270) 85 (3)

 Company

 Most of the Company’s transactions are denominated in GBP except for an advance to a subsidiary and a 
shareholder loan which are denominated in USD. 

 Foreign currency denominated fi nancial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as 
follows:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£'000 £'000 £'000
Nominal amounts USD USD USD

Financial assets 1,601 1,546 1,713
Short-term exposure 1,601 1,546 1,713

Financial liabilities (537) (518) (1,713)
Long-term exposure (537) (518) (1,713)

 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Company’s 
fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities and the GBP - USD exchange rate.

 It assumes a +2.2% / -3.0% change of the GBP/USD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 2010 
(2009: +3.2% / -1.5%). Each of these percentages has been determined based on the average monthly market 
volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s foreign 
currency fi nancial instruments held at each balance sheet date.
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The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.1 Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

 If the GBP had strengthened against the USD by 2.2% (2009: 3.2%), then this would have had the following 
increase/(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£'000 £'000 £'000
USD USD USD

Net result for the year (23) (32) -
Equity (23) (32) -

 If the GBP had weakened against the USD by 3.0% (2009: 1.5%), then this would have had the following 
increase/(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£'000 £'000 £'000
USD USD USD

Net result for the year 33 16 -
Equity 33 16 -

 In 2010, the Company had a USD loan, in relation to which the foreign currency risk was mitigated due to an 
offsetting USD loan receivable from a subsidiary.

27.2 Interest rate sensitivity

 Group

 China Food’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash fl ow risk exposure on long-term fi nancing. Longer-term 
borrowings are therefore usually at fi xed rates. At 31 December 2010, China Food is exposed to changes in 
market interest rates through its bank borrowings, which are subject to variable interest rates. 

 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably possible 
change in interest rates of +1.00% and -0.00% (2009: +0.81%/-0.00% and 2008: +0.25%/-0.25%), with effect 
from the beginning of the year. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation 
of current market conditions, and based on the fact that the Group’s borrowings comprise shareholder loans at 
a fi xed rate of interest, and bank loans in China where interest rates are expected to increase. The calculations 
are based on the Group’s fi nancial instruments held at each balance sheet date. All other variables are held 
constant. 



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010

ANNUAL REPORT 2010 – 5  –  CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.2 Interest rate sensitivity (continued)

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

Change in 
Interest rate

Change in
Interest rate

Change in 
Interest rate

1.00 % -0.00% 0.81% -0.00% 0.25% -0.25%
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Cash and banks 28 - 23 - 11 (11)
Bank loans - short term (12) - (18) - (6) 6
Shareholders' loans - current - - (1) - (1) 1
Bank loan - long term (29) - - - - -
Shareholder's loan - non-current - - (8) - (13) 13

(13) - (4) - (9) 9

 Company

 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably 
possible change in interest rates of +0.00% and -0.00% (2009: +0.00%/-0.00% and 2008: +0.25%/-
0.25%), with effect from beginning of the year. These changes are considered to be reasonably 
possible based on observation of current market conditions. The calculations are based on the 
Company’s fi nancial instruments held at the balance sheet date. All other variables are held 
constant. 

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

Change in 
Interest rate

Change in 
Interest rate

Change in 
Interest rate

0.00% -0.00% 0.00% -0.00% 0.25% -0.25%
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and banks - - - - 1 (1)
Shareholder's loan – non-current - - - - (4) 4 

- - - - (3) 3
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.3 Credit risk analysis

 Group

 China Food’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of fi nancial assets recognised 
at the balance sheet date, as summarised below:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£'000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables 737 411 509 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,918 3,248 4,414

 3,655  3,659  4,923

 China Food continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identifi ed either individually 
or by group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal only with 
creditworthy counterparties.

 China Food’s management considers that all the above fi nancial assets that are not impaired for each of the 
reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.

 In respect of trade and other receivables, China Food is not exposed to any signifi cant credit risk exposure to 
any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk for liquid 
funds is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit 
ratings. 

 All trade receivables as at 31 December 2010, 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 were current.

 Company

 The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of fi nancial assets recognised at the 
balance sheet date, as summarised below:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£'000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables 5 9 10
Advance to a subsidiary 1,601 1,546 1,713
Amount due from a subsidiary 156 77 22
Cash and cash equivalents 38 161 386

1,800 1,793 2,131

 In respect of trade and other receivables, China Food is not exposed to any signifi cant credit risk exposure. The 
credit risk for liquid funds is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality 
external credit ratings.
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.4 Liquidity risk analysis

 Group

 China Food manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-
term and short-term fi nancial liabilities as well as cash-outfl ows due in day-to-day operations. Liquidity needs 
are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling one month and 
three months projection. Long-term liquidity needs for a 360-day lookout period are identifi ed in the year end 
budget.

 China Food maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day periods. Funding for long-term 
liquidity needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

 As at 31 December 2010, China Food’s fi nancial liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised 
below:

Current Non-current
within 

6 months
6 to 

12 months 1 to 5 years
later than 

5 years
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables   7,583 - - -
Convertible loan notes 282 197 4,462 -
Shareholder's loan   - 501 4,694 -
Bank borrowings 1,287   99 3,013 -

  9,152   797 12,169   -  

 This compares to the maturity of China Food’s fi nancial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows:

Current Non-current

within 
6 months

6 to 
12 months 1 to 5 years

later than 
5 years

2009 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables   4,418 - - -
Convertible loan notes 192 152 3,556 -
Shareholder's loan   - 440 4,341 -
Bank borrowings 550   1,825 - -

  5,160   2,417 7,897   -  
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.4 Liquidity risk analysis (continued)

Current Non-current
within 

6 months
6 to 

12 months 1 to 5 years
later than 

5 years
2008 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables   4,741 - - -
Shareholder’s loan   - 478 5,798 -
Bank borrowings 610   2,024 - -

  5,351   2,502 5,798   -  

 The above contractual maturities refl ect the gross cash fl ows, which may differ to the carrying values of the 
liabilities at the balance sheet date.

 
 Company

 As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised below:
Current Non-current

within 
6 months

6 to 
12 months 1 to 5 years

later than 
5 years

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 425 - - -
Convertible loan notes 282 197 4,462 -
Shareholder’s loan - - 697 -

707 197 5,159   -  

 This compares to the maturity of the Company’s fi nancial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows:
Current Non-current

within 
6 months

6 to 
12 months 1 to 5 years

later than 
5 years

2009 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 257 - - -
Convertible loan notes 192 152 3,556 -
Shareholder’s loan - - 647 -

449 152 4,203   -  
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.4 Liquidity risk analysis (continued)

Current Non-current
within 

6 months
6 to 

12 months 1 to 5 years
later than 

5 years
2008 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables   89 - - -
Shareholder’s loan - - 1,884 -

89   - 1,884   -  

27.5 Summary of fi nancial assets and liabilities by category

 Group

 The carrying amounts of China Food’s fi nancial assets and liabilities as recognised at the balance sheet date of 
the reporting periods under review may also be categorised as follows. See notes 3.9 and 3.14 for explanations 
as to how the categorisation of fi nancial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

 In all cases the fair values of the assets and liabilities are considered to approximate to their carrying values.  In 
the case of the convertible loan notes this applies to the debt component only

Notes
Loan and

 receivables
Other 

(non-IAS39) Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

2010

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 737 13 750
Cash and cash equivalents 14 2,918 - 2,918
Total for category 3,655 13 3,668

2009

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 411 9 420
Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,248 - 3,248
Total for category 3,659 9 3,668 

2008

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 509 11 520
Cash and cash equivalents 14 4,414 - 4,414
Total for category 4,923 11 4,934 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of fi nancial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

Notes

Financial liabilities
 measured at 

amortised cost Total
£’000 £’000

2010

Non-current:
Borrowings 10,522 10,522

Current:
Borrowings 1,667 1,667
Trade and other payables 15 7,583 7,583
Total for category 19,772 19,772 

2009

Non-current:
Borrowings 6,355 6,355

Current:
Borrowings 2,686 2,686
Trade and other payables 15 4,418 4,418
Total for category 13,459 13,459 

2008

Non-current:
Borrowings 5,132 5,132

Current:
Borrowings 2,963 2,963
Trade and other payables 15 4,929 4,929
Total for category 13,024 13,024 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of fi nancial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

 Company

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s fi nancial assets and liabilities as recognised at the balance sheet date  
are considered to approximate to their carrying values. The loan to a subsidiary is non interest bearing but 
is viewed by the Directors as short term in nature and hence the fair value is not considered to be materially 
different from carrying value. These assets and liabilities may also be categorised as follows:

Notes
Loan and

 receivables Total
£’000 £’000

2010

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 5 5
Advance to a subsidiary 25 1,757 1,757
Cash and cash equivalents 14 38 38
Total for category 1,800 1,800

2009

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 9 9
Advance to a subsidiary 25 1,623 1,623
Cash and cash equivalents 14 161 161
Total for category 1,793 1,793 

2008

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 10 10
Advance to a subsidiary 25 1,735 1,735
Cash and cash equivalents 14 386 386
Total for category 2,131 2,131 
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Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the 
best practicable means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste 
products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of fi nancial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

Notes

Financial liabilities
 measured at 

amortised cost Total
£’000 £’000

2010

Non-current:
Borrowings 17, 18 4,395 4,395

Current:
Trade and other payables 15 425 425
Total for category 4,820 4,820

2009

Non-current:
Borrowings 17, 18 3,262 3,262

Current:
Trade and other payables 15 257 257
Total for category 3,519 3,519 

2008

Non-current:
Borrowings 18 1,713 1,713

Current:
Trade and other payables 15 101 101
Total for category 1,814 1,814 

28. Capital management policies and procedures

 China Food’s capital management objectives are:

• to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and 
• to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

 These objectives are achieved by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

 The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalents as presented 
on the face of the statement of fi nancial position.
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28. Capital management policies and procedures (continued)

 The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall fi nancing structure, i.e. equity and fi nancial liabilities. 
The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions 
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 

 Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows:

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

As at 
31 December 2008

£’000 £’000 £’000

Total equity 34,489 30,054 31,268
Cash and cash equivalents (2,918) (3,248) (4,414)
Capital 31,571 26,806 26,854

Total equity 34,489 30,054 31,268
Borrowings:
   Bank loans 1,166 2,246 2,485
   Shareholder’s loan - current 501 440 478
   Bank loans – non-current 2,916
   Convertible loan notes 3,858 2,744 -
   Shareholder's loan - non-current 3,748 3,611 5,132
Overall fi nancing 46,678 39,095 39,363

Capital-to-overall fi nancing ratio 0.68 0.69 0.68

 The capital-to-overall fi nancing ratio is considered to be appropriate to the needs of the business.

29. Segmental reporting 

 Management currently identifi es the Group’s two service lines as operating segments as further described in note 3.19. 
These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating 
results.

 Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business segments. No geographical segment information 
is presented as the Group mainly operates in the PRC.

 There were no inter-segment sales and transfers during the years ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).
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29. Segmental reporting (continued)

 Business segments

Year ended 31 December 2010
Animal feed Condiments Total

 £'000  £'000 £'000
Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 21,214 14,677 35,891

Cost of sales (19,281) (8,779) (28,060)
Finance income 2 6 8
Finance costs - (134) (134)
Other expenses (449) (1,553) (2,002)
Segment operating profi t 1,486 4,217 5,703
Taxation (376) (1,058) (1,434)
Segment profi t for the year 1,110 3,159 4,269

Segment assets 2010 2,938 51,554 54,492

Depreciation and amortisation 93 460 553
Unallocated depreciation and 

amortisation 2
Group depreciation and amortisation 555

Year ended 31 December 2009
Animal feed Condiments Total

 £'000  £'000 £'000
Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 17,571 12,565 30,136

Cost of sales (16,205) (7,574) (23,779)
Finance income 2 4 6
Finance costs - (153) (153)
Other expenses (437) (1,348) (1,785)
Segment operating profi t 931 3,494 4,425
Taxation (235) (877) (1,112)
Segment profi t for the year 696 2,617 3,313

Segment assets 2009 2,772 40,554 43,326

Depreciation and amortisation 89 431 520
Unallocated depreciation and 

amortisation 4
Group depreciation and amortisation 524

Segment assets 2008 3,460 40,904 44,364
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29. Segmental reporting (continued)

 The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments reconcile to the entity’s key fi nancial fi gures as presented in 
its fi nancial statements as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

 £'000 £'000
Segment revenue
Total segment revenues 35,891 30,136
Group revenues 35,891 30,136

Profi t or loss
Segment operating profi t 5,703 4,425
Finance income not allocated 507 117
Finance costs not allocated (592) (281)
Other expenses not allocated (1,865) (1,441)
Group operating profi t 3,753 2,820

As at
31 December 2010

As at
31 December 2009

As at
31 December 2008

 £'000  £'000  £'000 
Assets
Total segment assets 54,492 43,326 44,364
Group headquarters 184 528 834
Group assets 54,676 43,854 45,198
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CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC
(incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06077223)

Registered offi ce:
49 Whitehall 
London SW1A 2BX 

Date: 11 April 2011

To all shareholders

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Dear Shareholder,

The Annual General Meeting (“Meeting”) of China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) is due to take place on 25 May 2011 at 
11:30 a.m. at the offi ces of Stephenson Harwood, 1 Finsbury Circus London EC2M 7SH.

The Meeting is being held to:

1. approve a court-sanctioned capital restructuring for the purpose of eliminating the Company’s accumulated losses and 
the facilitation the declaration of future dividends; and

2. comply with company law requirements and to pass a standard set of shareholder resolutions, and

you will be given the opportunity to raise any questions in relation to such resolutions at the Meeting. 

Resolutions 8 and 9 are proposed as special resolutions and are special business. This means that for each resolution to be 
passed, at least three quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of that resolution. 

Recommendation

The directors of the Company consider that all the proposals to be considered at the Meeting are in the best interests of the 
Company and its members as a whole and are most likely to promote the success of the Company. The directors unanimously 
recommend that you vote in favour of all the proposed resolutions as they propose to do in respect of their own holdings in the 
ordinary share capital of the Company.
Yours sincerely,

John McLean
Chairman

Letter to all Shareholders
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products. The Group is committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Group’s policy that payments to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. 
The payment policy applies to all payments to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At 
the balance sheet date, there were 34 (2009: 39) days’ purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average 
trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 11:30 a.m. on 25 May 2011 at the offices of Stephenson 
Harwood, One, St Paul’s Churchyard London EC4M 8SH.

Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued 
ordinary share capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of  

issued share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd   15,056,961 22.68%

Main World Investments Limited   14,772,883 22.25%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 15.28%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 3,947,368 5.94%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of 
the report were £2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests 
exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of  

Notes A issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Directors’ Report

1

ANNUAL REPORT 2011ANNUAL REPORT 2010

81

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the offi ces of Stephenson Harwood, 
1 Finsbury Circus London EC2M 7SH on 25 May 2011 at 11:30 a.m. (UK time) for the purpose of considering and, if thought 
fi t, passing the following resolutions of which numbers 1 through 7 will be proposed as Ordinary Resolutions and numbers 8 
and 9 will be proposed as Special Resolutions.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1. To receive and consider the Company’s accounts for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the reports of the 
directors and the auditors thereon.

2. To re-appoint pursuant to Article 182 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditors of 
the Company until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

3. To authorise the directors to fi x the auditors’ remuneration.

4. To re-elect as a director of the Company, Raphael Tham Wai Mun, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 
118 of the Company’s Articles of Association and is offering himself for re-election.

5. To approve the resignation of Derek Marsh as director of the Company, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with 
Article 118 of the Company’s Articles of Association.

6. To elect as a director of the Company, Thomas Stanley Coley, subject to his consent to act.

7. To generally and unconditionally authorise the directors to allot shares in the Company and/or to grant rights to subscribe 
for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, 
provided that this authority shall be limited to:

(a) the grant of rights to subscribe for A Notes, B Notes and/or C Notes issued, or to be issued, by the Company 
pursuant to the convertible loan note instruments executed by the Company on 2 November 2009 and 15 June 
2010 respectively (the “Instruments”) and/or the allotment of shares in the Company to be issued in connection 
with the conversion of such A Notes, B Notes or  C Notes up to an aggregate allotment of 12,147,500 ordinary 
shares in the Company; and

(b) (in addition to the authority conferred pursuant to sub-paragraph 7(a) above) shares in the Company up to an 
aggregate nominal value not exceeding £858,100,

 and provided also that such authority shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to 
be held in 2012 save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or enter into an agreement which would 
or might require shares in the Company to be allotted, or rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares 
in the Company, to be granted after such expiry and the directors may allot shares in the Company and/or grant rights 
to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if 
the authority conferred hereby had not expired.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTION

8. Subject to the passing of resolution 7 and in accordance with section 570 of the 2006 Act, to generally empower the 
directors to allot equity securities (as defi ned in section 560 of the 2006 Act) pursuant to the authority conferred by 
resolution 7, as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be 
limited to:

(a) up to an aggregate allotment of 12,147,500 ordinary shares in the Company issued in connection with the 
conversion of A Notes, B Notes or C Notes (as described in resolution 7 above); and

(b) (in addition to the authority conferred pursuant to sub-paragraph 8(a) above) the allotment of equity securities 
up to an aggregate nominal value not exceeding £400,000, and

 Expire on at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2012 save that the Company 
may, before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of any such offer or agreement notwithstanding 
that the power conferred by this resolution has expired.

9. To reduce the share capital of the Company by canceling the sum of £3,000,000, standing to the credit of the share 
premium account of the Company, subject to the court order made on the hearing of the claim for confi rmation of the 
reduction.

By Order of the Board

Nigel Catwright
Company Secretary

Registered Offi ce:
49 Whitehall 
London SW1A 2BX
11 April 2011

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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